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PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General:

Department 56, Inc. (including its direct and indirect subsidiaries, “Department 56” or “the Company”) is a leading designer, distributor, wholesaler and retailer of fine
quality collectibles and other giftware products sold through gift, home accessory and specialty retailers, department stores, general merchandise chains and “Big-Box”
specialty chains, as well as through its own stores and consumer-direct home show sales business. The Company is best known for its Village Series of collectible,
handcrafted, lighted ceramic and porcelain houses, buildings and related accessories in The Original Snow Village® Collection and other Village series as well as its
extensive line of holiday, special occasion and home decorative products, including its Snowbabies™ collectible porcelain figurines.

The Company was incorporated in Delaware in 1992 to hold the equity of a Minnesota corporation formed in 1984 under the name “Department 56, Inc.,” which has since
changed its name to “D 56, Inc.” and has continued as the Company’s principal operating subsidiary.

The Company seeks to grow and acquire businesses that reinforce synergies, allowing it to complement its internal product development and accelerating its penetration into
new markets and new channels. In the second quarter of fiscal year 2002, the Company commenced its Time to Celebrate™ initiative, a direct selling business that reaches
consumers by using-a network of independent sales consultants to sell giftware and home decorative products through the home show sales method. Also in 2002, the
Company launched its Simple Traditions by Department 56™ line of Village products, developed and distributed for the unique needs of select general merchandise chains
and Big-Box specialty retailers. The Company tailors its products, designs, packaging and prices to satisfy the varying demands of customers and consumers within each
distribution channel. This focused, multi-faceted strategy is intended to position Department 56 as the premier giftware and collectibles company for the future.

The Company has two reportable segments ~ wholesale and retail. Aithough the product produced and sold for each segment is similar, the type of customer for the product
and the method used to distribute the product are different. The segmentation of these operations also reflects how the Company’s chief executive officer currently reviews
the results of these operations. See Note 11 within the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page F-6.

The Company is organized under the laws of Delaware. The Company’s principal executive offices are located at One Village Place, 6436 City West Parkway, Eden Prairie,
MN, 55344, and telephone (952) 944-5600.

The Company files annual, quarterly and current reports and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission™). You may read and copy
any of the information on file with the Commission at the Commission’s Public Reference Room, at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Room 1024, Washington, DC 20549. Please call
the Commission at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the public reference room. In addition, the Commission maintains an Internet site at www.sec.gov that
contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file, as the Company does, electronically with the Commission.

The Company makes available, free of charge through a direct link to the SEC on the Company’s website www,department56.com its annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as soon as is reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with or furnished to the Commission. In addition, each of the key standing committees of
the Board of Directors has a charter that sets forth the committee’s role and responsibilities. All of those charters are available on the Company’s website. The Board has
also adopted its Governance Principles, a copy of which is also available on the Company’s website. The information on the Company’s website is not incorporated by
reference into this annual report.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”),
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act™). See “ltem 7. — Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of
Operations and Financial Condition — Forward-Looking Statements and Factors Affecting Future Earnings” herein.

Planned Disposition of Geppeddo Seasonal Kiosk Operations:

During 2001, the Company acquired the net assets of Axis Corporation, a privately held designer, importer and specialty retailer based in Salt Lake City, Utah. The acquired
business sold dolls and doll accessories under the brand name of Geppeddo at kiosks located in major shopping centers throughout the United States during the peak holiday
shopping season. The original strategy behind the Geppeddo acquisition was to give the Company additional differentiated and branded products and access to a new
channe! of distribution. However, since the acquisition, the demand for porcelain




dolls has declined substantially. This softening combined with significantly reduced traffic at the kiosks resulted in a business model that the Company does not believe can
be profitable going forward. As a result, in December 2003, the Company committed to a plan to cease operations of Geppeddo.

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, the Company will
record Geppeddo’s results in continuing operations in 2003 and 2004 until the run-off of operations is complete, which is expected to be in the second quarter of 2004.
When the run-off is complete, the Geppeddo results will be reclassified into discontinued operations for all periods presented. Additional information regarding the plan to
cease operations is included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition beginning on page 10 and Note 2 within the Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page F-6.

Unless otherwise noted, the following discussion relates to operations excluding the Geppeddo seasonal kiosk operations.
Wholesale Operations:

The Company sells its products to retailers through its wholesale operations, the principal facilities of which consist of eight corporate showrooms and two independently
operated wholesale showrooms covering the major giftware market areas and trade shows in the U.S. In addition, the Company from time to time attends and solicits orders
at giftware trade shows in select other markets throughout the U.S. and Canada.

The Company’s domestic wholesale operations serve an extensive base of retailers, primarily consisting of approximately 13,000 independent gift retailers across the U.S.
and Canada who account for approximately 85% of its wholesale sales (the Company refers to this portion of its customer base as its “Gift and Specialty” channel).
Approximately 4,660 of the Company’s principal wholesale customers receive the Company’s Village Series and/or Snowbabies products (which the Company sometimes
refers to as its “collectible” products and/or lines). These retailers include approximately 1,410 independently owned Club 565M, Gold KeyS™ and ShowcaseS™ Dealers,
who receive special recognition and qualify for improved sales terms by satisfying certain volume, merchandising and/or promotional requirements. Approximately 15% of
the Company’s wholesale sales are made to department stores, select general merchandise chains, and mail order houses. No single account represented more than 3% of the
Company’s wholesale sales in fiscal 2003. The Company provides volume discounts to its customers on most of its products, The Company has generally had only limited
sales outside the United States, International wholesale sales, which are made primarily in Canada, were approximately 3% of the Company’s wholesale sales in fiscal 2003.

Over the past four years, the Company’s principal wholesale customers have decreased in number by approximately 4,400, or 25%. Similarly, customers who sell the
Company’s Village Series and/or Snowbabies products have decreased over the same period by approximately 1,670, or 26%. The Company believes the decrease in
customers and related decrease in sales since 1999 is due to several factors including: the problems experienced during the implementation of the Company’s enterprise-
wide computer system, an overall weakness in the economy which has forced some of the Company’s customers to go out of business or reduce their demand, and the
typical characteristic of new customer order volume to be lower than order volume of exiting customers. The Company has enacted programs to curb the decline in
customers and wholesale sales experienced over the past four years including implementing new customer ordering and shipping programs, strengthening its sales
organization, refining its product development process, broadening the seasonal coverage of its product lines, and pursuing alternative channels of retail distribution.
Management believes that some customer attrition is likely to continue within the base of customers carrying the Company’s collectible products. The Company plans to
continue to seek complementary retailers and to offer its Simple Traditions and giftware lines for select general merchandise retail chains in order to augment revenue and to
introduce more new consumers to the Company’s products.

Certain of the Company’s limited edition and year of production lighted Village Series and Snowbabies products are sold on allocation. Under its allocation practice, the
Company specifies certain items among its Village Series and Snowbabies product lines which it does not allow customers to purchase in unlimited quantities. The
Company periodically evaluates and adjusts its distribution network and reviews its policies with a view of optimizing both the Company’s distribution strategy and the
store-level operations of its independent retailers.

The Company continues to market and advertise its products to retailers principally through giftware trade shows, brochures and trade journals. The Company provides
merchandising and product information 1o its customers distributing Village and Giftware products through its business-to-business Internet site (“WIN"SM or Web
Information NetworkS™), WIN also provides ordering, order status information and other transaction processing capabilities to its subscribers.




The Company continues to expand the use of WIN in order to help its retailers with merchandising ideas and to obtain greater operational efficiencies for its customers and
the Company.

The Company markets and advertises to existing and potentially new consumers through seasonal advertisements in magazines and newspapers, brochures and point-of-sale
information. In addition, the Company publishes and sells Celebrations™, a quarterly consumer magazine, which contains product-related articles and descriptions of its
product lines, and maintains an interactive consumer information center on its Internet web site (www,department56,com). Department 56 maintains a toll-free telephone
line for collector and consumer questions and participates in collector conventions. The Company also extends its consumer advertising through the use of cooperative
advertising with certain of its dealers using various media formats.

Retail Operations:

The Company sells its products to consumers through its retail operations, which in 2003 included five retai! stores located in tourist destinations at Mall of America®,
outside Minneapolis, Minnesota; Aladdin Hotel and Casino® in Las Vegas, Nevada, Downtown Disney® in Anaheim, California; Water Tower Place® in Chicago, Ilinois;

and Florida Mall® in Orlando, Florida. The Company recently entered into a lease agreement for a retail store in the Pier 39%® shopping complex in San Francisco,
California. The Company anticipates that this store will open during the second quarter of 2004,

In the second quarter of 2002, the Company commenced its Time to Celebrate direct selling business. Independent Time to Celebrate sales consultants, who are not agents
or employees of the Company, market and distribute giftware and home decorative products to their customers principally through the home show method of direct sales. A
consultant contacts consumers, selling primarity at home-based shows using seasonal brochures and product samples. The consultant collects payment from the consumer at
the time the consumer’s order is submitted. A web-based consultant care tool has been created, allowing consultants to preview products, policies and procedures and to
place and make payment against their orders. A consuitant can place an order 24 hours a day, seven days a week. The order is processed and the products then delivered to
the home show host. The host then handles delivery of the merchandise to the consumer. The consultants are the customers of Time to Celebrate and the Company generally
has no transaction or arrangement with any end user of its product beyond the consultant. Consultants are responsible for payment to the Company upon or prior to
shipment, whether or not the products are delivered to an end user,

Typical characteristics of companies engaged in direct sales include a high rate of tumover among sales consultants, and a positive correlation between the number of sales
consultants and revenue. For these reasons, the recruiting and training of new Time to Celebrate sales consultants is expected to be continually necessary. Recruitment of
people who are themselves experienced with the home show sales format and personal contacts resulting from home show activity constitute the primary means of obtaining
new consultants. All consultants earn margin on their own sales and are eligible to receive bonuses from sales by consultants they have recruited. This rewards program and
development of sales leadership is an essential part of Time to Celebrate’s long-term growth strategy. At the end of 2003, there were approximately 500 Time to Celebrate
independent sales consultants located in 47 states. The Company does not expect the Time to Celebrate business to have a material financial impact on the Company’s retail
operations until at least the end of 2004. .

Products:

Village Series Products - Department 56 is best known for its Village Series, which includes several different series of collectible, handcrafted, lighted ceramic and
porcelain houses, buildings and related accessories that depict nostalgic scenes. The Company introduces new pieces, limited edition pieces, figurines and other accessories
each year to complement and provide continuity to the collections. To allow for these new introductions and to keep each series appropriately balanced, the Company has
traditionally retired a number of its existing pieces from production each year. Retirement decisions are based on management’s judgment as to, among other things,
expected consumer demand, whether a piece continues to fit the evolving design characteristics of a series, manufacturing considerations and, importantly, injecting an
element of surprise. The Company also introduces new lighted pieces and accessories for a variety of holidays and special days, including Halloween, St. Patrick’s Day,
Easter, Valentine’s Day and Fourth of July. The Company will continue to consider the introduction of new lighted pieces and accessories for other holidays and special day
themes.

Giftware ~The Company offers a wide range of other decorative giftware and home accessory items including the Company’s Snowbabies and Snowbunnies®figurines;
holiday and seasonal decorative items; as well as tableware. Giftware product lines are product lines developed around either a seasonal or unique design theme. The
Company




generally introduces new products and refines its product offerings twice a year. The Company currently maintains an aggregate of approximately 4,650 stock keeping units,
of which approximately 3,900 are Giftware products.

Design and Production:

Each year, the Company introduces new products in its existing product lines and also develops entirely new design and product concepts. The design and manufacture of
the Company’s products are complex processes. The path from initial conception of the design idea to market introduction generally takes approximately six to 12 months,
although the Company continues to investigate processes intended to reduce this time. The Company’s Village Series and Simple Traditions products are principally
composed of ceramic and porcelain clays, and the Company’s other products are designed in a variety of media, including paper maché, acrylic and resin.

The Company continues to add licensed trademarks and characters to its Village and Snowbabies lines. Since 1995, the Company has entered into license agreements with
the owners of a variety of well-known American icons which are featured with Village buildings and as character “guests” of the Snowbabies. Adding licensed names and
icons has allowed the Company to market to consumers who are enthusiasts of the licensed icons.

Department 56 believes that its relationships with its manufacturers, and the quality of their craftsmanship, provide a competitive advantage and are a significant contributor
to the Company’s success. The Company imports most of its products from the Pacific Rim, primarily the People’s Republic of China and the Philippines. The Company
also imports a small percentage of its products from India and Europe. During fiscal 2003, the Company imported products from approximately 150 independent
manufacturing sources, some of which are represented by independent trading companies. The Company’s single largest manufacturing source represented approximately
25% of the Company’s imports in fiscal 2003. The Company’s emphasis on high-quality craftsmanship at affordable prices limits the sources from which the Company
chooses to obtain products. The Company has long-standing relationships with the majority of its manufacturers (several for 20 years or more) and may purchase, typically
on a year-to-year basis, a substantial portion of a manufacturer’s entire annual output. As a result of these relationships, the Company has experienced a low turnover of its
manufacturing sources. ..

Distribution and Systems:

The products sold by the Company to its retail customers in the U.S. are generally shipped by ocean freight from abroad and then by rail to the Company’s distribution
center located in the Minneapolis/St. Paul metropolitan area. Shipments from the Company to its wholesale customers and Time to Celebrate sales consultants are handled
primarily by United Parcel Service or commercial trucking lines.

The Company’s systems maintain order processing from the time a product enters the Company’s system through shipping and ultimate payment collection from its
wholesale customers and Time to Celebrate sales consultants. The Company also uses handheld optical scanners and bar coded labels in accepting orders at wholesale
showrooms and in the field throughout the U S. In addition, computer and communication software systems allow on-line information access between the Company’s
headquarters and its showrooms, and those systems generally provide direct linkage with the Company’s field sales force. These systems also provide a range of order and
product information and ordering capabilities to customers subscribing to its WIN business-to-business site and to Time to Celebrate sales consultants.

The Company’s retail systems also monitor and transmit to the Company on a daily basis the POS (point of sales) data for the Company’s owned retail stores.
Backlog and Seasonality:

The Company receives products, pays its suppliers and ships products throughout the year, although historically the majority of shipments have occurred in the second and
third quarters of each year as retailers stock merchandise in anticipation of the winter holiday season. The Company continues to ship wholesale merchandise until mid-
December each year. Accordingly, the Company’s wholesale backlog typically is lowest at the beginning of January. As of January 3, 2004, Department 56 had unfilled
wholesale orders of approximately $3.5 million compared to $5.0 million at December 28, 2002. The entire backlog is scheduled to be shipped to customers during the 2004
fiscal year. Approximately 7% to 8% of the Company’s total annual wholesale customer orders have been cancelled in each of the last three years for a number of reasons,
primarily customer credit considerations and inventory stock-outs.




Historically, due to the timing of wholesale trade shows early in the calendar year, the Company has received the majority of its total annual wholesale customer orders
during the first quarter of each year. During the first quarter of each of the past three years, the Company has received approximately 62% to 64% of its annual wholesale
orders for such year. The Company can experience fluctuations in quarterly sales due to the timing of receipt of product from suppliers and subsequent shipment of product
from the Company to customers, as well as the timing of orders placed by customers. As a result of the Company’s sales pattern, the Company has historically recorded a
substantial portion of its wholesale revenues in its second and third quarters, and the majority of its store-based retail sales occur in the fourth quarter during the peak
holiday shopping season.

The extended payment terms that the Company provides to many of its wholesale customers create a significant seasonal pattern in its working capital requirements. Due to
the seasonal pattern of shipping and accounts receivable collection, the Company generally has greater working capital needs in its second and third quarters and
experiences greater cash availability in its first and fourth quarters. The cash from the Company’s retail operations is also generated predominantly in the fourth quarter. The
Company typically finances its operations through cash and marketable securities balances, internally generated cash flow and short-term seasonal borrowings.

Trademarks and Other Proprietary Rights:

The Company owns 40 U.S. trademark registrations and has pending U.S. trademark applications with respect to certain of its logos and brand names. In addition, the
Company maintains selected trademarks in certain foreign countries.

Department 56 regards its trademarks and other proprietary rights as valuable assets and intends to maintain its trademarks and their registrations and vigorously defend
against infringement. The U.S. registrations for the Company’s trademarks are currently scheduled to be cancelled at various times between 2004 and 2013 but can be
maintained and renewed provided that the marks are still in use for the goods and services covered by such registrations. The Company has historically renewed its
registered trademarks and expects to continue to renew them as business needs dictate.

Competition:

Department 56 competes generally for the discretionary income of consumers with other producers of collectibles, specialty giftware and home decorative accessory
products. The collectibles area, in particular, is affected by changing consumer tastes and interests. The giftware industry is highly competitive, with a large number of both
large and small participants. The Company’s competitors distribute their products through independent gift retailers, department stores, mass market and specialty chain
stores, televised home shopping networks, Internet commerce and mail order houses, and through the home show sales method or other direct response marketing methods.
The Company believes that the principal elements of competition in the specialty giftware industry are brand loyalty, design, quality, display and price. The Company
believes that its competitive position is enhanced by a variety of factors, including the uniqueness, quality and enduring themes of the Company’s products, its reputation
among retailers and consumers, its in-house design expertise, its sourcing and marketing capabilities, and the pricing of its products.

Imports:

The Company does not own or operate any manufacturing facilities and imports most of its products from manufacturers in the Pacific Rim, primarily the People’s Republic
of China (“China”) and the Philippines. The Company also imports a small percentage of its products from sources in India and Europe.

The Company’s ability to import products and thereby satisfy customer orders is affected by the availability of, and demand for, quality production capacity abroad. The
Company competes with other importers of specialty giftware products for the limited number of foreign manufacturing sources that can produce detailed, high-quality
products at affordable prices. Foreign manufacturing and procurement of imports is subject to the following inherent risks: labor, economic and political instability; cost and
capacity fluctuations and delays in transportation, dockage and materials handling; restrictive actions by govenments; nationalizations; the laws and policies of the U.S,
affecting importation of goods (including duties, quota and taxes), international political/military/terrorist developments; and foreign trade and tax laws. Moreover, the
Company cannot predict what relevant political, legal or regulatory changes may occur, or the type or amount of any financial impact on the Company such changes may
have in the future.

Fluctuations in currency exchange also present risk inherent in the Company’s method for inventory procurement. The Company’s costs could be adversely affected if the
currencies of other countries in which the Company sources product




appreciate significantly relative to the U.S. dollar; this could result, for example, from a decision by China to allow its currency to float instead of being pegged to the U.S.
dollar at a fixed rate.

The Company’s products are subject to customs duties and regulations pertaining to the importation of goods, including requirements for the marking of certain information
regarding the country of origin on the Company’s products, In its ordinary course of business, the Company may be involved in disputes with the U.S. Bureau of Customs
and Border Protection (“U.S. Customs”) regarding the amount of duty to be paid, the value of merchandise to be reported or other customs regulations relating to certain of
the Company’s imports, which may result in the payment of additional duties and/or penalties, or which may result in the refund of duties to the Company. Since the
terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001, U.S. Customs has enacted various security protocols affecting the importation of goods. Such protocols could adversely affect the
speed or cost involved in the Company’s receipt of inventory from its overseas vendors.

In fiscal 2003, approximately 88% of the Company’s imports were manufactured in China, and the Company anticipates that such percentage will hold constant or increase
for the foreseeable future. China has joined the World Trade Organization and been accorded permanent “Normal Trade Relations” status by the U.S. government.
However, various commercial and legal practices widespread in China, including the handling of intellectual properties and certain labor practices, as well as certain
political and military actions taken or suggested by China, are under review by the U.S. government. China, moreover, has been designated a Country of Particular Concern
(“CPC”) pursuant to the International Religious Freedom Act of 1998 (“IRFA”). The IRFA enumerates several specific retaliatory actions that may be taken by the U.S.
government, none of which the Company believes would have a material impact on its business. The IRFA, however, also accords the President broad discretion in
fashioning other or additional actions and, due to the breadth of the presidential powers under the IRFA, the Company is unable to predict what, if any, action the President
could take in the future.

Accordingly, the ability to continue to conduct business with vendors located in China is subject to political uncertainties, the financial impact of which the Company is
unable to estimate. To the extent China miay have its exports or transaction of business with U.S. persons subject to political retaliation, the cost of Chinese imports could
increase significantly and/or the ability to import goods from China may be materially impaired. In such an event, there could be an adverse effect on the Company untit
alternative arrangements for the manufacture of its products were obtained on economic, production and operational terms at least as favorable as those currently in effect.

Employees:

As of February 18, 2004, the Company had 293 full-time employees in the U.S., three in Canada and one in Taiwan, Of the total workforce, approximately 57 are engaged
in wholesale sales representation throughout North America and 83 are associated with the Company’s retail operations. Local Union No, 638 of the Teamsters Union
represents 61 of the Company’s U.S.-based warehouse, shipping and receiving personnel under a contract that expires on December 31, 2004. The Company believes that its
labor relations are good and has never experienced a work stoppage.

Environmental Matters:

The Company is subject to various federal, state and local laws and regulations govemning the use, discharge and disposal of hazardous materials. Compliance with current
laws and regulations has not had and is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition. It is possible, however, that environmental
issues may arise in the future that the Company cannot currently predict,




ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The Company owns or leases buildings that contain approximately 541,000 square feet of floor space, as identified in the following table. The Company’s primary corporate
showroom, executive offices and creative center are located in Eden Prairie, Minnesota. The office building in Eden Prairie, Minnesota is owned by the Company and the
rest of the Company’s facilities are leased.

Lease Approximate
Operating Expiration Number of
Facility Location Segment(s) Date Sguare Feet

Executive Offices, Creative Center Company-owned

and Primary Corporate Showroom Eden Prairie, MN Wholesale & Retail facility 66,400
Warehouse and Distribution Facility Rogers, MN Wholesale & Retail 6-30-2010 333,700
Warehouse and Distribution Facility

and Offices Salt Lake City, UT Retail 6-30-2004 54,400
Showroom Atlanta, GA Wholesale 12-31-2006 12,946
Showroom Chicago, IL Wholesale 11-30-2006 7,480
Showroom Dallas, TX Wholesale 1-31-2007 9,143
Showroom Los Angeles, CA Wholesale 12-31.2008 6,600
Showroom New York, NY Wholesale 12-31-2005 10,300
Showroom = Bedford, MA Wholesale 6-30-2004 1,800
Showroom Columbus, OH Wholesale 5-31-2009 2,485
Retail Store - - Bloomington, MN Retail 4-30-2009 10,200
Retail Store Las Vegas, NV Retail 10-31-2010 3,100
Retail Store Anaheim, CA Retail 3-31-2012 6,250
Retail Store Chicago, IL Retail 1-31.2014 3,836
Retail Store Orlando, FL Retai} 5-1-2013 5,711
Retail Store San Francisco, CA Retail 3-31.2014 6,800

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In the ordinary course of its business, the Company is involved in various legal proceedings, claims and governmental audits. In the opinion of management, the ultimate
disposition of these proceedings, claims and audits will not have a material adverse effect on the results of operations, financial position or cash flows of the Company.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of the Company’s security holders during the last quarter of the year ended January 3, 2004,




PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Department 56°s common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) under the symbol “DFS.” The table below sets forth the high and low sales prices as
reported by the NYSE.

High Low

Fiscal 2003

First quarter 13.40 9.63

Second quarter 15.42 9.75

Third quarter 15.76 12.60

Fourth quarter 14.53 12.99
Fiscal 2002

First quarter 1432 8.50

Second quarter 19.97 13.85

Third quarter 16.26 10.23

Fourth quarter 13.99 8.95

The Company has not declared or paid dividends on its Common Stock. The Company’s strategy includes the pursuit of a significant acquisition that aligns with and
complements its existing business. As a result, the Company intends to accumulate cash, In the event the Company is not able to identify any acceptable acquisition by mid-
2005, the Company intends to return cash to its shareholders at that time. As a holding company, the ability of the Company to pay cash dividends will depend upon the
receipt of dividends or other payments from its subsidiaries. See “Item 7. — Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations —
Liquidity and Capital Resources” below with respect to restrictions under the Company’s credit agreement pertaining to its right to pay dividends.

As of March 8, 2004, the number of holders of record of the Company’s Common Stock was 817.




ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY (in thousands; except per share amounts)

YEARS ENDED JANUARY 3, 2004, DECEMBER 28, 2002, DECEMBER 29, 2001,
DECEMBER 30, 2000, AND JANUARY 1, 2000

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations, and the Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes thereto, included elsewhere herein.

January 3, December 28, December 29, December 30, January 1,
2004 2002" 2004° 2000" 2000"
STATEMENTS OF INCOME
Wholesale segment sales:
Village sales ) 86,592 107,097 110,295 150,502 168,106
Giftware sales 80,303 73,267 70,761 80,680 85,027
166,895 180,364 181,056 231,182 253,133
Retail segment sales 24,819 28,260 19,391 2,876 2,395
Net sales - 191,714 208,624 200,447 234,058 255,528
Cost of sales 89,053 90,305 89,845 109,522 113,475
Gross profit 102,661 118,319 110,602 124,536 142,053
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative 66,632 76,758 68,589 74,166 61,542
Impairment of Geppeddo assets? 9,140 - _ — _
Amortization of goodwill, trademarks and
other intangibles 235 248 5,189 5,486 5,145
Total operating expenses 76,007 77,006 73,778 79,652 66,687
Income from operations 26,654 41,313 36,824 44 884 75,366
Other expense (income):
Interest expense 1,954 3,426 7,036 11,729 6,719
Litigation settiement? — (5,388) — — —
Impairment and equity in losses
of minority investment* — — 3,304 427 —
Other, net (938) (386) (662) (809) (153)
Income before income taxes 25,638 43,661 27,146 33,537 68,800
Provision for income taxes 9,230 11,820 11,184 12,744 26,144
Net income before cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle 16,408 31,841 15,962 20,793 42,656
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
principte® — (93,654) — — -
Net income (loss) $ 16,408 (61,813) 15,962 20,793 42,656
Net income (loss) per common share ~ basic $ 1.25 (4.76) 1.24 1.47 2.48
Net income (loss) per common share —
assuming dilution 3 1.24 {4.70) 1.24 1.47 245
BALANCE SHEET DATA
Working capital $ 49,649 72,885 63,998 66,248 32,525
Total assets 142,304 181,325 279,032 277,808 287,108
Total debt —_ 54,000 85,000 105,000 102,500
Total stockholders’ equity6 114,296 96,748 156,747 140,575 152,924

I The year ended January 3, 2004 is a 53-week fiscal year whereas all other fiscal years presented are 52-week periods.

~

w

As a result of the Company’s decision to exit the Geppeddo seasonal kiosk business, the Company recorded non-cash charges of $9.1 million to write-off all goodwill,
trademarks, other intangible assets and to recognize the impairment of the long-lived assets of the subsidiary.
During 2002, the Company received net proceeds (before income taxes) of $11.0 million in settlement of the Company’s litigation against Arthur Andersen LLP and

Andersen Worldwide Société Coopérative concerning implementation of its information systems. This recovery resulted in other income of $5.4 million and a $5.6

million reduction in net depreciable assets.

r'S

w

During 2001, the Company recognized a $3.0 million impairment of the Company’s minority investment in 2-Day Designs, Inc. The impairment charge taken reduced the
carrying value of the Company’s minority investment to zero.
During 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 142, the Company performed impairment testing

and concluded that the goodwill related to the leveraged buy-out of the Company in 1992 was impaired. As a result, the Company recognized a $93.7 million charge to

write-down its goodwill.

o

The Company has not declared or paid dividends on its Common Stock. As a holding company, the ability of the Company to pay cash dividends will depend upon the
receipt of dividends or other payments from its subsidiaries. See “Item 5. — Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters.”



ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

{(in millions, except per share amounts)
STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

The Company’s financial resuits for 2003 as well as for the prior two years were significantly impacted by fundamental changes occurring in our core Gift and Specialty
account base; results for 2003 and 2002 were also impacted by a decline in demand for Geppeddo’s products in its channe! of distribution.

We continued to see substantial attrition last year in the Gift and Specialty channel, which accounted for over 85% of the Company’s wholesale sales. This channe!
remained under stress during this past year, which resulted in accounts representing 7% of the Company’s 2002 Village product sales to cease doing business during 2003.
Because the Company’s average Village customer represents higher average revenue to the Company than an average Giftware customer, losing Village accounts is a more
difficult problem to overcome than losing Giftware accounts. The Company typically must open several new Village accounts to offset the revenue impact of losing one
long-time Village account as the new accounts need time to buifd up their own consumer bases and demand within their stores. We have also found that our ongoing Village
accounts continue to be more cautious in investing in inventory since the onset of tough economic conditions in 2001 and with their increased confidence in the Company’s
ability to replenish Village product. Largely due to a decline in sales to this channel, the Company’s Village product sales declined 19% during 2003.

In addition to the impact of attrition in the Gift and Specialty channel, the Company’s Geppeddo division suffered further significant deterioration in its business during
2003, As the Company stated last year, our focus was to return Geppeddo to its historic level of profitability, but with conditions only worsening the decision was made to
exit the business at the end of 2003, The financial implications of this decision are discussed in detail below.

In response to the changing nature of the Gift and Specialty channel, in particular as it has impacted the Company’s core Village business, the Company has continued to
develop and implement a number of growth strategies designed to offset the impact of the decline in the Gift and Specialty channel and to grow both revenue and earnings in
the long-term. A summary of these strategies and the progress made during 2003 follows:

Developing Year-Round Celebratory Products:

The Company is in the process of repositioning itself from a strong Christmas collectibles business to a company providing premier home decorative products to celebrate
life’s extraordinary moments. The Company has expanded its Village lines to incorporate celebrations of all major holidays, special moments and seasons. This re-
positioning strategy has also led to a strengthening, broadening and increased focus on the Company’s Giftware line with the goal of developing cohesive, multi-season
product lines that will attract consumers year-round. While further progress needs to be made, the Company’s Giftware sales demonstrated early positive results during 2003
posting a 10% increase in sales.

Expand Multi-Channels of Distribution:

The continued difficulties with its core Gift and Specialty channe! has led the Company to participate in more wholesale and direct channels of distribution in an effort to
reach a broader base of consumers and take advantage of how and where consumers shop today. The Company has three strategic initiatives which it is pursuing:

>> Department 56 Retail
The Company’s initial retail strategy has been to build flagship stores showcasing the breadth of its product in high traffic locations which
enjoy a balanced mix of tourist and local population traffic, and where there is no significant wholesale distribution. The Company’s retail
stores have been profitable during the past two years. During 2003, the Company opened new stores in Chicago and Orlando. Retail
expansion will continue during 2004 with the Company’s mid-year opening of its store at Pier 39 in San Francisco and the expected
opening of an additional store during the latter half of the year, although an appropriate site currently has not yet been identified. The
Company is also in process of exploring the viability of other Department 56 Retail formats and expects to finalize its strategy and plans
by year end.
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>> Wholesale Channels
Although the Gift and Specialty channel will continue to be the Company’s core channel of distribution, the Company has adopted a
multi-wholesale channel approach to better expose its products and make them more accessible to a broader range of consumers. New,
simpler and less costly Village as well as Giftware lines are being offered to select general merchandise chains as well as select “Big
Box” retailers. Sell-through results for the Village lines have been mixed, while Giftware sell-through has generally been good. The
Company plans to continue to pursue new accounts and deepen penetration in its current accounts where an opportunity exists to provide
value to the consumer through branded offerings.

>> Time to Celebrate
Launched during 2002, Time to Celebrate is the Company’s direct sales business. Time to Celebrate uses independent sales consultants to
market and sel! its products directly to the consumer at parties held by a host, generally in the host’s own home, with consumers the host
has invited. During 2003, the division focused much of its effort on the recruiting of sales consultants. Time to Celebrate had
approximately 500 consultants at the end of 2003, which met our initial expectations. It is not anticipated that this business will have a
material impact on the Company’s results untii at least the end of 2004. We strongly believe this channel can add significant revenue in
the future and provides an opportunity to interact closely with our Time to Celebrate customers on a long-term basis.

Leverage and Grow Our Core Consumer Base:

The Company is fortunate to have long enjoyed a strong consumer following for its core brands. It is our intention to forge closer links with this group and augment it with
the consumers shopping at Department 56 Retail and Time to Celebrate as well as those consumers who visit us at www.department56.com. We will use a variety of direct
marketing and consumer relationship marketing techniques to expand our relationships with our consumers.




SUMMARY OF 2003 RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

. Net income decreased by 48% from $31.8 million in 2002 (before the cumulative effect of adopting SFAS No. 142) to $16.4 million in 2003. Certain items affected
the comparability of the Company’s earnings during 2003 with those of 2002, as shown in the following table:

Items Impacting Earnings Comparability
{In thousands)

Quarter Ended
63 Weoks 62 Weeks
Ended Ended
Jan, 3, Dec. 28, Jan, 3, Dec. 28,
2004 2002 2004 2002

Income (loss) before cumulative effect of

change in accounting principle $(3,143)  $ 8,051 $16,408 $31,84]
Litigation settlement! (5,388)
Income tax effect of litigation settlement 1,940
Reversal of prior year tax accruals? (3,461) (3,461)
Impairment of Geppeddo assets® 9,140 9,140
Income tax benefit from impairment of

"" Geppeddo assets (3,290) (3,290)

Write-down of Geppeddo inventory to net

realizable value* 607 607
Income tax benefit from write-down of Geppeddo

inventory 219) 219)
Income before cumulative effect of change

in accounting principle after removing

the above items $ 3,095 $ 4,590 $22,646 $24932

! The Company recorded $5.4 million of other income in 2002 in connection with the settlement of litigation involving its information systems,

2 The Company recorded adjustments to its income tax provision of $3.5 million in 2002 for the reversal of prior year tax accruals that were no longer necessary.

3 As a result of the Company’s decision to exit the Geppeddo seasonal kiosk business, the Company recorded non-cash charges of $9.1 million to write-off alt goodwill,
trademarks and other intangible assets and to recognize the impairment of the long-lived assets of the subsidiary.

4 In connection with the decision to exit the Geppeddo seasonal kiosk business, the Company recorded non-cash charges of $0.6 million to write-down Geppeddo inventory
to its net realizable value. This write-down is included in 2003 cost of sales.

. After adjusting for the above items, net income (before the cumulative effect of adopting SFAS No. 142) decreased by 9% in 2003 principally due to a 7% decrease
in wholesale sales and a decrease in the gross profit rate from 57% in 2002 to 54% in 2003. The 7% decrease in wholesale sales was driven by a 19% decrease in Village
product sales, partially offset by a 10% increase in Giftware sales. The decrease in the gross profit rate was driven by a change in product mix from higher margin Village
product to lower margin Giftware product.

. In December 2003, the Company committed to a plan to cease operations of its Geppeddo seasonal kiosk business. In connection with this decision, the Company
recorded total non-cash, pre-tax charges of $9.7 million noted in the table above. In accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets, the Company will record Geppeddo’s results in continuing operations in 2003 and 2004 until the run-off of operations is complete (expected to be in the
second quarter of 2004). When the run-off is complete, the Geppeddo results will be reclassified into discontinued operations for all periods presented.
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

The following discussion of the results of operations and financial condition should be read in conjunction with the selected financial data in Item 6 and the Company’s
Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes thereto, included elsewhere herein.

{In millions, except per share amounts)

2003 2002 2004
Percent of Percent of Percent of
Dollars Net Sales Doliars Net Sales Dollars Net Sales
Wholesale segment sales:
Village sales $ 866 $ 107.1 $ 1103
Giftware sales 80.3 733 70.8
166.9 180.4 181.1
Retail segment sales 248 283 19.4
Total net sales 191.7 100% 208.6 100% 200.4 100%
Gross profit - 102.7 54 118.3 57 [10.6 55
Selling, general and administrative expenses 66.6 35 76.7 37 68.6 34
Impairment of Geppeddo assets 9.1 5 — — — —
Amortization of goodwill, trademarks and
other intangibles 0.2 — 0.3 — 52 3
Income from operations 26.7 14 413 20 36.8 18
Interest expense 2.0 1 34 2 7.0 4
Litigation settlement — _ (5.4) 3 — —
Impairment and equity in losses
of minority investment — — — —_ 33 2
Other, net 0.9) — (0.4) _ 0.7) —
Income before income taxes 256 13 437 21 27.1 14
Provision for income taxes 92 5 11.8 6 11.2 6
Net income before cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle 16.4 9 31.8 15 16.0 8
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle — (93.7) —
Net income (loss) 16.4 (61.8) 16.0
Net income (loss) per common share - assuming
dilution 1.24 (4.70) 1.24

COMPARISON OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 2003 TO 2002
Net Sales

Net sales decreased $16.9 million, or 8%, from $208.6 million in 2002 to $191.7 million in 2003, The decrease in net sales was principally due to a decrease in net sales to
wholesale customers.

Wholesale sales decreased $13.5 million, or 7%, from $180.4 million in 2002 to $166.9 million in 2003, Wholesale sales of the Company’s Village Series products
decreased $20.5 million, or 19%, while sales of Giftware products increased $7.0 million, or 10% between the two periods. Village Series products represented 52% of the
Company’s wholesale sales during 2003 versus 59% during 2002. Village sales continued to be negatively impacted by both the cautious buying patterns of Village dealers
and the continued attrition in the number of these dealers, which is a trend that may continue. See five-year Village sales trend at “Item 6. Selected Financial Data - Five-
Year Summary.”
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Retail sales decreased $3.5 million, or 12%, from $28.3 million in 2002 to $24.8 million in 2003, The decrease in retail sales was due to a decrease in Geppeddo sales and
the fact that the Company did not operate its seasonal stores beyond January 2003. The decrease in sales was partially offset by an increase in sales at the Company’s retail
stores as a result of opening two new stores in 2003 and an increase in Time to Celebrate sales. Comparable sales in the Company’s three stores that were open for a full
year in both years decreased 1%.

Gross Profit
Gross profit as a percentage of net sales was 57% and 54% in 2002 and 2003, respectively. The decrease in the gross profit rate was principally due to a change in the mix of
wholesale product shipments from higher margin Village product to lower margin Giftware product, a decrease in gross profit margins on Geppeddo sales due to higher

markdowns and a $0.6 million charge to write-down inventory to its net realizable value, along with a decrease in seasonal store retail sales described above (which carry
higher gross profit margins than the wholesale business).

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased $10.1 million, or 13%, between 2002 and 2003. Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of net
sales were 37% in 2002 and 35% in 2003. The decrease was principally due to lower seasonal store, kiosk and incentive compensation expenses in 2003. Seasonal store

expenses were lower as the Company did not operate seasonal stores beyond January 2003. Kiosk expenses were lower as the Company operated 346 kiosks during the 2003
selling season compared to 417 kiosks during the 2002 selling season.

Impai t

In December 2003, the Company committed to a plan to cease operations of its Geppeddo seasonal kiosk business. In connection with this decision, the Company recorded a
$9.1 million impairment charge related to Geppeddo’s assets. The impairment charge was comprised of $8.2 million for the write-off of goodwill, trademarks and other
intangible assets, and $0.9 million for the impairment of long-lived assets.

Interest EX]}Q] 15€

Interest expense decreased $1.5 million, or 43%, between 2002 and 2003. The decrease in interest expense resulted from a lower interest rate environment, as well as a
decrease in the amount of debt outstanding. The Company paid off its remaining long term debt of $54 million during 2003.

Provision for Income Taxes

The effective income tax rate was 27% and 36% during 2002 and 2003, respectively. The lower effective income tax rate in 2002 was due to a $3.5 million reversal of prior
year tax accruals that were no longer needed. Excluding this, the effective income tax rate was 36% in 2002. Management anticipates that the income tax provision rate for
2004 will be approximately 36%.

COMPARISON OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 2002 TO 2001
Net Sales

Net sales increased $8.2 million, or 4%, from $200.4 million in 2001 to $208.6 million in 2002. The increase in sales was principally due to an increase in retail sales,
partially offset by a decrease in sales to wholesale customers.

Wholesale sales decreased $0.7 million, or 0.4%, from $181.1 million in 2001 to $180.4 million in 2002. Wholesale sales of the Company’s Village Series products
decreased $3.2 million, or 3%, while sales of
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Giftware products increased $2.5 million, or 4% between the two periods. Village Series products represented 59% of the Company’s sales during 2002 versus 61% during
2001. The decrease in wholesale Village sales was principally due to a decrease in the number of Gift and Specialty customers carrying the Company’s Village product as a
result of the continued contraction of the Gift and Specialty channel.

Retail sales increased $8.9 million from $19.4 million in 2001 to $28.3 million in 2002. The increase in retail revenues for the year was primarily attributable to the
inclusion of January 2002 results from the seasonal stores and kiosks opened for the first time during 2001 as well as the increase in the number of seasonal stores and
kiosks operated in 2002. The Company operated 20 seasonal stores and 417 seasonal kiosks during 2002 compared to 10 seasonal stores and 359 seasonal kiosks operated in
2001. Comparable sales in the Company’s two stores that were open for a full year in both years increased 2%.

Gross Profit

Gross profit as a percentage of net sales was 55% and 57% in 2001 and 2002, respectively. The increase in the gross profit rate for the year was principally due to the
increase in retail sales (which carry higher gross profit than wholesale sales) and a decreased provision for excess and slow moving inventory. The gross profit rate increase
was partially offset by a shift in the mix of wholesale product shipments from higher margin Village product to lower margin Giftware product. Retail sales represented 14%
of sales in fiscal 2002 compared to 10% in 2001.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $8.2 million, or 12%, between 2001 and 2002. Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of net
sales were approximately 34% in 2001 and 37% in 2002. The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses for fiscal 2002 was principally due to the increase in
retail operations (which have higher selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of sales than the wholesale business) partially offset by non-recurring
expenses related to the Company’s 25" Anniversary Celebration in 2001, wholesale cost control initiatives and decreased depreciation expense as a result of the $5.6 million
reduction in net depreciable assets from the litigation settlement described below.

Interest Expense

Interest expense decreased $3.6 million, or 51%, between 2001 and 2002. The decrease in interest expense resulted from a lower interest rate environment, as well as a
decrease in the amount of term debt outstanding. The Company pre-paid $30 million of its term debt in May of 2002.

Litigation Settlement

On March 1, 2002, the Company received net proceeds (before income taxes) of $11.0 million in settlement of the Company’s litigation against Arthur Andersen LLP and
Andersen Worldwide Société Coopérative concerning implementation of its information systems. This recovery resulted in other income of $5.4 million and a $5.6 million
reduction in net depreciable assets.

Provision for Income Taxes

The effective income tax rate was 41% and 27% during 2001 and 2002, respectively. The change in income tax rates is due to several factors. First, the Company recorded
adjustments to its income tax provision of $1.0 million and $3.5 million in 2001 and 2002, respectively, for the reversal of prior year tax accruals that were no longer
needed. Secondly, 2001 reflects the recognition of a deferred tax valuation allowance of $1.5 million to reserve against the future deductibility of the capital losses
recognized from its minority investment in 2-Day Designs, Inc. Finally, the Company’s decreased income tax provision rate for 2002 reflected the change in accounting for
goodwill and other intangible assets previously reported.
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Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle

The Company adopted SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, effective December 30, 2001. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible
assets are no longer amortized, but are reviewed for impairment annually, or more frequently if certain indicators arise. With the adoption of this statement, the Company
ceased amortization of its goodwill and indefinite-lived trademarks as of December 30, 2001 and recorded a $93.7 million charge to write-down its goodwill related to the
leveraged buy-out of the Company in 1992. See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

PLANNED DISPOSITION OF GEPPEDDO SEASONAL KIOSK BUSINESS

In December 2003, the Company committed to a plan to cease operations of its Geppeddo seasonal kiosk business. The Company plans to wind-down operations in 2004
and anticipates that operations will cease in the second quarter of 2004. The original strategy behind the Geppeddo acquisition was to give the Company additional
differentiated and branded products and access to a new channel of distribution. However, since the acquisition, the demand for porcelain dolls has decreased. This softening
combined with reduced traffic at the kiosks has resulted in a business mode! that the Company does not believe can be profitable going forward.

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the Company will present Geppeddo’s results in continuing operations in 2003 and 2004 until the run-off of operations is complete
(expected to be in the second quarter of 2004). When the run-off is complete, the Geppeddo results will be reclassified into discontinued operations for all periods presented.

The results from Geppeddo's operations are as follows:

2003 2002 2001°
(in millions)
Percent of Percent of Percent of
Dollars Net Sales Doliars Net Sales Doilars Net Sales
Net sales $159 100% $18.1 100% $120 100%
Gross profit 9.0 56 121 67 8.1 68
Selling, general and administrative expenses 129 81 16.2 89 6.2 51
Impairment of assets 9.1 58 — — — —
Amortization of goodwill, trademarks and
other intangibles 0.1 1 0.1 1 — —
(Loss) income from operations (13.1) 83 42) 23 1.9 16
Income tax (benefit) provision 4.8) 30 (1.6) 9 0.7 6
Net (loss) income (8.3) 53 (2.6) 14 1.2 10

1 Reflects results of operations of Geppeddo subsequent to the acquisition date in the third quarter of 2001.
SEASONALITY

Historically, due to the timing of wholesale trade shows early in the calendar year, the Company has received the majority of its total annual wholesale customer orders
during the first quarter of each year. The Company entered 63% and 64% of its total net annual wholesale customer orders during the first quarter of 2003 and 2002,
respectively. Cancellations of total annual wholesale customer orders were approximately 7% in both 2003 and 2002. Orders not shipped in a particular year, net of
cancellations, are carried into backlog for the following year and have historically been orders for Spring and Easter products. The Company’s backlog of wholesale
customer orders was $3.5 million and $5.0 million at January 3, 2004 and December 28, 2002, respectively.

The Company receives products, pays its suppliers and ships products throughout the year, although historically the majority of wholesale shipments occur in the second and
third quarters as retailers stock merchandise in anticipation of the holiday season. As a result of this seasonal pattern, the Company generally records its highest wholesale
sales during the second and third quarters of each year. However, the Company can experience fluctuations in quarterly sales and related net income compared with the prior
year due to the timing of receipt
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of product from suppliers and subsequent shipment of product from the Company to customers, as well as the timing of orders placed by customers. In addition, the
Company recognizes the majority of its retail sales in the fourth quarter during the peak holiday shopping season. The Company is not managed (o maximize quarter-to-
quarter results, but rather to achieve annual objectives designed to achieve long-term growth consistent with the Company’s business strategy.

(in millions, except per share amounts} 2003 2002
1st Qtr. 2nd Qtr. 3rd Qtr. 4th Qtr. Total 1st Qtr. 2nd Qtr. 3rd Qtr. dth Qtr. Total

Wholesale customer

orders entered' $1036 § 345 § 224 § 29 31634 $1141 $ 418 $ 201 § 24 81784
Net sales — wholesale 28.1 524 528 335 166.9 272 58.8 56.9 375 1804
Net sales - retail 6.7 1.2 1.8 15.0 24.8 5.3 1.0 1.6 203 283
Net sales — total 349 537 54.6 48.5 191.7 325 59.9 58.6 577 208.6
Gross profit 18.7 30.1 284 254 ‘102.7 18.3 33.8 30.7 355 1183
Income (loss) before cumulative

effect of change in

accounting principle 03 11.0 83 3. 16.4 29 11.8 9.0 8.1 31.8
Net income (loss) 0.3 11.0 83 3. 16.4 (90.7) 11.8 9.0 8.1 (61.8)
Income (loss) per common

share assuming dilution before

cumulative effect of change in-

accounting principle 0.02 0.84 0.62 (0.24) 1.24 0.23 0.89 0.69 0.61 242
Net income (loss) per’common

share assuming dilution 0.02 0.84 0.62 (0.24) 1.24 (6.98) 0.89 0.69 0.61 (4.70)

I Customer orders entered are orders received and approved by the Company, net of any cancellation for various reasons including credit considerations, inventory stock-
outs, and customer requests. Customer orders entered do not include freight and other revenue adjustments, which are included in net sales. Additionally, wholesale
customer orders entered exclude orders from company-operated retail stores.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Cash Flows from Operations

Net cash provided by operating activities increased $15.4 million, or 75%, from $20.6 million in 2002 to $35.9 million in 2003, The increase was principally due to higher
cash collections, partially offset by lower income from operations (excluding the $9.1 million Geppeddo non-cash impairment charge). Cash collections were higher in 2003
principally due to five additional days of cash collections in 2003 as a result of the 2003 fiscal year ending on January 3, 2004 compared to the 2002 fiscal year ending on
December 28, 2002. Cash collections were also lower in 2002 due to an increase in the amount of sales qualifying for extended dating terms.

Accounts receivable, net of reserves, which principally consists of wholesale trade receivables, decreased by 36%, from $32.6 million at December 28, 2002 to

$21.0 million at January 3, 2004. The decrease in accounts receivable was principally due to the additional five days of cash collections in fiscal 2003 as a result of the year
ending on January 3, 2004 (compared to December 28, 2002 in fiscal 2002). Management believes there is adequate provision for any doubtful accounts receivable and
product claims that may arise.

Because the Company’s wholesale business is not capital intensive, the Company has historically not incurred significant capital expenditures. Capital expenditures for the
retail business were $1.9 million, $0.7 million, and $1.5 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001 respectively. Other capital expenditures were $0.6 million, $1.2 million and $1.4
million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Capital expenditures for the retail business are anticipated to be approximately $0.9 million for each retail store opened during
the year. Management anticipates other 2004 capital expenditures to approximate 1% of annual revenues. The Company has signed a lease to open its sixth retail store
during the second quarter of 2004 at the Pier 39 shopping complex in San Francisco, California, and plans to open a seventh store during the second half of 2004.
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Sources of Liquidity

The Company’s primary source of cash is the funds generated from operations. Additionally, the Company has a revolving credit facility available for working capital and
investment needs as described below. Based on current levels of operations, the Company believes its funds generated from operations, its available cash, and its revolving
credit facility will be sufficient to finance any capital expenditures, contractual obligations or strategic initiatives in the foreseeable future,

The Company’s strategy includes the pursuit of a significant acquisition that aligns with and complements its existing business. As a result, the Company intends to
accumulate cash over the next year to help finance a potential acquisition. The Company also has the ability to use its revolving credit facility to finance an acquisition.
However, depending on the size of the acquisition, the Company may have to find additional financing to complete an acquisition. In the event the Company is not able to
identify an acceptable acquisition by mid-2005, the Company intends to return cash to its shareholders at that time.

Consistent with customary practice in the giftware industry, the Company offers extended accounts receivable terms to many of its wholesale customers. This practice has
typically created significant working capital requirements in the second and third quarters that the Company has generally financed with seasonal borrowings under its
revolving credit facility. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents balances peak early in the first quarter of the subsequent year, following the collection of wholesale
customer accounts receivable with extended payment terms and cash receipts from the Company’s retail operations.

In November 2003, the Company entered into a new three-year credit agreement. In connection therewith, the Company recorded $0.2 million in deferred financing fees,
which are being amortized over the life of the credit agreement. The Company used the new credit facility to refinance the remaining term and revolving loans under its
former credit agreement. As of January 3, 2004, no revolving loans were outstanding under the new credit agreement,

The revolving credit facility provides for borrowings of up to $75 million, which may be in the form of letters of credit and revolving credit loans. The letters of credit are
issued primarily in connection with inventory purchases. The revolving credit facility includes an annual clean-down provision whereby the Company’s outstanding
revolving credit loans and letters of credit may not exceed an aggregate of $30 million during any one 30-consecutive-day period beginning November 1 and ending
March 31 of the following year. Borrowings under the credit agreement are subject to certain borrowing base limitations (as defined in the agreement). The Company’s
borrowing capacity under the revolving credit facility as of January 3, 2004 was $75 million and will fluctuate during 2004 based on accounts receivable and inventory
levels. The revolving line of credit provides for commitment fees of 0.20% to 0.375% per annum on the daily average of the unused commitment.

The credit agreement allows the Company to choose between two interest rate options in connection with its revolving credit loans. The interest rate options are the Floating
Rate (as defined in the agreement) or the Eurodollar Rate (as defined in the agreement) plus an applicable margin, The applicable margin ranges from 0% to 0.375% for
Floating Rate loans and from 0.875% to 1.25% for Eurodollar Rate loans. The credit agreement expires November 26, 2006.

The credit agreement includes restrictions as to, among other things, the amount of additional indebtedness, liens, contingent obligations, investments and dividends. Under
the most restrictive of these covenants, approximately $251 miilion of retained earnings were restricted at January 3, 2004, The credit agreement also requires maintenance
of minimum levels of interest coverage, net worth and maximum levels of leverage, in each case at the end of each fiscal quarter, None of these restrictions are expected to
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s ability to operate in the future.

The Company has pledged the common stock of certain of its subsidiaries, direct and indirect, as collateral under the credit agreement, and certain of its subsidiaries, direct
and indirect, have guaranteed repayment of amounts borrowed under the credit agreement.
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
The Company does not have off-balance sheet arrangements.
CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

As of January 3, 2004, the Company is obligated to make cash payments in connection with its operating leases and purchase obligations in the amounts listed below. The
Company does not have any long-term debt or capital lease obligations. The Company has no off-balance sheet debt or other unrecorded obligations other than the items
noted in the following table:

(in thousands) Payments Due

Operating Purchase
Leases Commitments’ Total
2004 $ 4,140 $ 9,626 $ 13,766
2005 4,245 — 4,245
2006 3,889 —_ 3,889
2007 3,017 —_ 3,017
2008 .. 3,021 — 3,021
Thereafter 5,850 — 5,850
$ 24162 3 9,626 $ 33,788

I The Company is committed to pay suppliers of Village and Giftware product under the terms of open purchase orders issued in the normal course of business.

See Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of the Company’s other long-term liabilities.
WHOLESALE CREDIT AND RETURN POLICIES

The Company has credit policies that establish specific criteria related to creditworthiness that its customers must meet prior to the shipment of product to the customer. The
Company periodically makes limited and selective exceptions to its policy of not shipping to customers with overdue balances when the particular customer has met specific
criteria, which are indicative of a wherewithal and willingness to pay their past due and future balances.

The Company does not accept returns from wholesale customers without its prior authorization. Returns are typically accepted only for damaged or defective goods, or
shipping discrepancies. The Company reserves the right to refuse authorization of any returns and to discard any unauthorized returns. If the Company accepts an
unauthorized return or if a return is the result of a customer error, the wholesale customer may be subject to a 20% handling charge. The Company reserves the right to
cancel open orders or backorders for those wholesale customers who abuse or excessively use return privileges.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with generaily accepted accounting principles of the United States. In connection with the preparation of
the financial statements, we are required to make assumptions, make estimates and apply judgment that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses
and related disclosures. The Company bases its assumptions, estimates and judgments on historical experience, current trends and other factors that management believes to
be relevant at the time the consolidated financial statements are prepared. On a regular basis, management reviews the accounting policies, assumptions, estimates and
judgments to ensure that our financial statements are presented fairly and in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. However, because future events and
their effects cannot be determined with certainty, actual results could differ from our assumptions and estimates, and such differences could be material.
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The following accounting policies are the accounting policies that management believes require the most difficult, subjective or complex judgments about matters that are
inherently uncertain:

Sales Returns and Credits — An allowance is established for credits related to possible returned or damaged product, pricing and shipping discrepancies. The amount of the
allowance is based on historical ratios of credits to sales, the historical average length of time between the sale and the credit, and other factors. Changes in customers’
behavior versus historical experience, changes in product damage or defect rates, or changes in the Company’s return policies are among the factors that would result in
materially different amounts for this item. Based on 2003 sales returns and credits, a 10% increase or decrease in sales returns and credits would have had an impact of
approximately $0.5 million.

Inventory Valuation - Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. The amount is determined by analyzing historical and projected sales information,
plans for discontinued products and other factors. The Company procures product based on forecasted sales volume. If actual sales were significantly lower than forecasted
sales due to unexpected economic or competitive conditions, it could result in materially higher surplus and discontinued inventories. Based on 2003 inventory write-downs,
a 10% increase or decrease in inventory write-downs would have had an impact of less than $0.5 million.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts ~ An allowance is established for estimated uncollectible accounts receivable. The required allowance is determined by reviewing
customer accounts and making estimates of amounts that may be uncoliectible. Factors considered in determining the amount of the reserve include the age of the
receivable, the financial condition of the customer, general business, economic and political conditions, and other relevant facts and circumstances. Additionally, since the
majority of the Company’s wholesale sales have dating terms which come due in November and December, the Company does not have visibility into overdue balances for
most of its wholesale customers unti! the fourth quarter of its fiscal year. Due to the seasonality of the Company’s business, the extended dating terms provided to customers
and the relative size of accounts receivable balances at year end, it is not uncommon for the Company to experience fluctuations in the provision for bad debt expense from
quarter to quarter as the Company refines’its estimate. Unexpected changes in the aforementioned factors would result in materially different amounts for this item. In
addition, results could be materially different if economic conditions worsened for the Company’s customers. Based on 2003 bad debt write-offs, a 10% increase or decrease
in bad debt write-offs would have had an impact of less than $0.5 million.

Tax Contingencies — The Company is periodically contacted or audited by federal and state tax authorities. These contacts or audits include questions regarding the timing
and amount of deductions and the allocation of income among various tax jurisdictions. In evaluating the exposure associated with various filing positions, the Company
records a reserve for estimated probable exposures. The estimate of this reserve contains uncertainty because management must use judgment to estimate the exposure
associated with its various filing positions. To the extent the Company does not have to pay taxes for which reserves have been established or is required to pay amounts in
excess of its reserves, the Company’s tax rate in a given financial period could be materially impacted.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONGUNCEMENTS
See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements regarding discussion of new accounting standards.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE

Approximately 97% of the Company’s sales in 2003 were denominated in United States dollars and, as a result, were not subject to changes in exchange rates.

Approximately 3% of the Company’s sales were denominated in foreign currencies that were subject to changes in exchange rates. At this time, the Company does not use
derivative instruments to manage the exchange rate risk.

The Company imports its product from manufacturers located in the Pacific Rim, principally China, Although the Company generally pays for its product in United States
dollars, the cost of such product may fluctuate with the value of the Chinese currency because the purchase price paid to the Company’s vendors in United States dollars
would be worth more or less in the Chinese currency. As a result, the Company’s costs could be adversely affected if the Chinese currency appreciates significantly relative
to the United States dollar; this could result from a decision by the People’s Republic of China to allow its currency to float instead of being
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pegged to the U.S. dollar at a fixed rate. Conversely, its costs would be favorably affected if the Chinese currency depreciates significantly relative to the United States
doliar. In addition, less than 1% of the Company’s product purchases in 2003 were denominated in foreign currencies that were subject to changes in exchange rates. During
2003, the Company did not use derivative instruments to manage the exchange rate risk.

See also “Item 1. Business — Restrictions on Imports.”
EFFECT OF INFLATION

The Company continually attempts to minimize any effect of inflation on eamnings by controlling its operating costs and selling prices. During the past few years, the rate of
inflation has been low and has not had a material impact on the Company’s results of operations,

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND FACTORS AFFECTING FUTURE EARNINGS

Certain statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the documents incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K include forward-fooking
statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act. All statements regarding the Company’s expected future financial
position, results of operations, cash flows, financing plans, business strategy, budgets, tax rates, capital expenditures, competitive positions, growth opportunities, plans and
objectives of management, as well as statements containing the words such as “anticipate,” “approximate,” “believe,” “plan,” “estimate,” “expect,” “project,” “could,”
“should,” “will,” “intend,” “may” and other similar expressions, are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements do not relate strictly to historical or current
facts.

Such forward-looking statements are inherently uncertain, and you must recognize that actual results may differ materially from forward-looking statements as a result of a
variety of factors, including, without limitation, those discussed below. Such forward-looking statements are based on management’s current expectations and include
known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of which the Company is unable to predict or control, that may cause the Company’s actual results or
performance to differ materially from any future results or performance expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. These statements involve risks,
uncertainties and other factors discussed below or described from time to time in the Company’s filings with the Commission.

Such factors include, among other things, the following: consumer acceptance of new products; changing public and consumer taste; product development efforts;
identification and retention of sculpting and other talent; shift in product mix; completion of third-party product manufacturing, customer reorders and order cancellations;
the volume, number, mix and timing of customer orders, reseller inventory policies, and the Company’s ability to forecast and fulfill changes in anticipated product demand;
contro! of operating expenses; collection of accounts receivable; management of inventory; changes in the cost and availability of cargo transportation, dockage and
materials handling with respect to both the importation of inventory and the shipment of product to the Company’s customers; the effect of regulations and operating
protocols affecting the importation of goods into the U.S., including security measures adopted by U.S. Customs in light of heightened terrorism; changes in foreign
exchange rates; corporate cash flow application, including share repurchases; cost of debt capital; functionality of information, operating and distribution systems;
identification, completion and results of acquisitions, investments, Company-owned retail expansion, and other strategic business initiatives, capital expenditures and
depreciation, and the timing thereof; grants of stock options or other equity equivalents; actual or deemed exercises of stock options; industry, general economic, regulatory,
transportation, labor, and intemational trade and monetary conditions; adverse weather conditions, natural disasters (such as hurricanes and epidemics), terrorist activities
and international political/military developments which may, among other things, impair performance at the retail stores of the Company and its customers; and actions of
competitors, Actual results may vary materially from forward-looking statements and the assumptions on which they are based. The Company undertakes no obligation to
update or publish in the future any forward-looking statements.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The following discussion of the Company’s exposure to market risk contains “forward-looking statements™ that involve risks and uncertainties. The information presented
has been prepared utilizing certain assumptions considered reasonable in light of information currently available to management. Given the unpredictability of interest rates
as well as other factors, actual results could differ materially from those projected in such forward-looking information.

The Company’s market risks relate primarily to changes in interest rates and currency exchange rates. The first component of the Company’s interest rate risk relates to its
debt outstanding. The Company’s credit facility bears interest at variable rates. Because this facility carries a variable interest rate, the Company’s results of operations and
cash flows will be exposed to changes in interest rates. Based on average borrowings in 2003, a 1% increase or decrease in current market interest rates would have an
impact of approximately $0.5 million.

The second component of the Company’s interest rate risk involves the short-term investment of excess cash. Excess cash flow is typically invested in high-quality fixed
income securities issued by banks, corporations and the U.S. government, municipal securities; and overnight repurchase agreements backed by U.S. government securities.
These securities are classified as cash equivalents on the Company’s balance sheet. At January 3, 2004, the Company’s cash balance was approximately $22.5 million.
Eamings from cash equivalents were approximately $0.2 million for the fifty-three weeks ended January 3, 2004. Based on the January 3, 2004 cash balance, a 1% increase
or decrease in current market interest rates would have an impact of approximately $0.2 million.

Approximately 3% of the Company’s sales and less than 1% of the Company’s product purchases in fiscal year 2003 were denominated in a foreign currency. Based on
these sales and product purchases, a 10% increase or decrease in the foreign currency exchange rates would have an impact of less than $1 million.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

See Consolidated Financial Statements on page F-1 herein.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

As of the end of the period covered by this report, an evaluation was carried out under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including
its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934). Any control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable,
not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. The design of a control system inherently has limitations, including that the benefits of controls
must be considered relative to their costs. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, or by collusion of two or more people.
Therefore, even effective disclosure controls and procedures can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving their control objective. Based upon and as of the date of
that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that those disclosure controls and procedures are effective to provide reasonable
assurance that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules and forms.

There have been no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 of the Exchange Act) during the Company’s
most recently completed fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s intemal control over financial reporting.
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PART Il

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Information required by this Item will be included in the 2004 Proxy Statement in the sections captioned “Item 1 — Election of Directors — Nominees for Terms Ending at
the 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders,” “Information About the Board and Corporate Governance,” “Biographical Information Regarding Executive Officers,” and
“Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance,” and such information is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 11, EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required by this Item will be included in the 2004 Proxy Statement in the sections captioned “Information About the Board and Corporate Governance —
Director Compensation,” and “Compensation of Executive Officers,” and such information is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information required by this Item will be included in the 2004 Proxy Statement in the section captioned “Equity Compensation Plan Information,” and “Security Ownership
of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management,” and such information is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
Not applicable.

ITEM 14, PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information required by this Item will be included in the 2004 Proxy Statement in the section captioned “Audit Committee Report,” and such information is incorporated
herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

The Exhibits, and other documents filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including those exhibits which are incorporated by reference herein, are:

Page
(a) 1. Financial Statements
Independent Auditors’ Report F-1
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of January 3, 2004 and December 28, 2002 F-2
For the years ended January 3, 2004, December 28, 2002, and December 29, 2001:
Consolidated Statements of Income F-3
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows F-4
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity F-5
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-6
2. Financial Statement Schedule
I1. Valuation and Qualifying Accounts S-1
All other schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable
3. Exhibits

Exhibits required in connection with this Annual Report on Form 10-K are listed below,

Exhibit

Description

31
3.2
33
4.1
42

4.3

4.4

10.1

10.2

103
10.4
10.5

10.6

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended July 3, 1993. SEC File No. 1-11908.)

Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock of the Company. (Incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 1.1 of Registrant’s Amendment No. 1, dated May 12, 1997, to Registration Statement on Form 8-A, dated April 23, 1997. SEC File No. 1-11908.)
Restated By-Laws of the Company. {(Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 8-1, No. 33-61514
and to Exhibits 1 and 2 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 15, 1996. SEC File No. 1-11908.)

Specimen Form of Company’s Common Stock Certificate. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1994. SEC File No. 1-11908.)

Rights Agreement (including Exhibits A, B and C thereto) dated as of April 23, 1997, between the Company and ChaseMellon Shareholder Services,
L.L.C., as Rights Agent. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1 of Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A, dated April 23, 1997. SEC
File No. 1-11908.)

First Amendment dated as of March 13, 1998, to Rights Agreement between the Company and ChaseMellon Shareholder Services, L.L.C., as Rights
Agent. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1 to Registrant’s Amendment No. 2, dated March 16, 1998, to Registration Statement on Form 8-A,
dated April 23, 1997. SEC File No. 1-11908.)

Amendment No. 2 to Rights Agreement, dated as of February 25, 1999, between the Company and ChaseMetlon Shareholder Services, L.L.C., as Rights
Agent. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 26, 1999. SEC File No. 1-11908.)
Lease Agreement dated April 14, 1999 between D 56, Inc. and Ryan Companies US, Inc. pertaining to the Rogers warehouse and distribution facility.
(Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 1, 2000. SEC File No. 1-
11908.)

Guaranty of Lease dated April 14, 1999 between the Company and Ryan Companies US, Inc. pertaining to the Rogers warehouse and distribution facility.
(Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 1, 2000. SEC File No. 1-
11908.)

Credit Agreement, dated as of November 25, 2003 among the Company, the Bank parties thereto and Bank One NA as LC Issuer, Swing Line Lender and
as Administrative Agent. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Registrant’s 8-K filed on December 1, 2003. SEC File No. 1-11908.)
Guarantee and Collateral Assignment, dated as of November 25, 2003, by the Company and certain of its direct or indirect subsidiaries in favor of Bank
One, NA (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Registrant’s 8-K filed on December 1, 2003. SEC File No. 1-11908.}

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Company and its directors and executive officers. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.24 of
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, No. 33-61514.)

Department 56, Inc. 1992 Stock Option Plan. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form §-1, No.
33-61514.) t

24




Exhibit

Description

10.7
10.8
10.9
10.10

10.11
10.12

10.13

10.14
10.15
10.16

10.17

10.18
21.1
23.1
311
312
321
322

Department 56, Inc. 1993 Stock Incentive Plan. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 of Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 29, 2001. SEC File No. 1-11908.) 1

Department 56, Inc. 1995 Stock Incentive Plan. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 29, 2001, SEC File No. 1-11908.) t

Department 56, Inc. 1997 Stock Incentive Plan. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 29, 2001. SEC File No. 1-11908.) {

Department 56, Inc. 2004 Cash Incentive Plan. 1 *

Department 56, Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, 1 * )

Form of Executive Stock Option Agreement in connection with Department 56, Inc. 1992 Stock Option Plan, Department 56, Inc. 1993 Stock Incentive
Plan, Department 56, Inc. 1995 Stock Incentive Plan, and Department 56, Inc. 1997 Stock Incentive Plan. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
10.13 of Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 1, 2000. SEC File No. 1-11908.) t

Form of Performance - Accelerated Vesting Stock Option Agreement in connection with Department 56, Inc. 1993, 1995 and 1997 Stock Incentive Plans,
(Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.14 of Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 1, 2000. SEC File No. 1-
11908.) +

Forms of Letter Agreement between the Company and its executive officers. {Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.14 of Registrant’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 28, 2002, SEC File No. 1-11908.)

Form of Department 56, Inc. Restricted Stock Agreement. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.16 of Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2001. SEC File No. 1-11908.) ¢

Form of Department 56, Inc. 2001 Non-Officer Stock Option Plan. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.17 of Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2001. SEC File No. 1-11908.) t

Asset Purchase Agreement By and Among Department 56, Inc., Axis Holdings Corporation, Axis Corporation, All Shareholders of Axis Corporation, and
Kirk Willey in the Capacity of Shareholders™ Representative. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.19 of Registrant’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2001. SEC File No. 1-11908.) t

Letter Agreement between Department 56, Inc. and David Dewey, dated December 15, 2003, + *

Subsidiaries of the Company. *

Independent Auditors’ Consent. *

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. *

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. *

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, *

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350. *

+ Management contract or compensatory plan.

* Filed herewith.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K

The Company

filed the following Current Reports on Form 8-K during the fourth quarter of 2003:

+ Form 8-K dated October 30, 2003,
+ Form 8-K dated December 1, 2003,
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

DEPARTMENT 56, INC.

Date: March 17, 2004 By: /s/ Susan E. Engel

Susan E. Engel
Chairwoman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.

Slignature Capacity in which signed Date
/s/ SUSANE. ENGEL Chairwoman of the Board and March 17, 2004
Chief Executive Officer
Susan E. Engel (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ TIMOTHY J. SCHUGEL Chief Financial Officer and March 17, 2004
Executive Vice President
Timothy J. Schugel (Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ GREGG A. PETERS Managing Director of Finance and March 17, 2004
Principal Accounting Officer
Gregg A. Peters {Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/ JAMES E. BLOOM Director March 17, 2004

James E. Bloom

/s/ MICHAEL R. FRANCIS Director March 17, 2004

Michael R. Francis

/s/ STEWART M. KASEN Director March 17, 2004

Stewart M. Kasen

/s/ DR. REATHA CLARK KING Director March 17, 2004

Dr. Reatha Clark King

/s/ GARY S. MATTHEWS Director March 17, 2004

Gary S. Matthews

/s/ STEVEN G. ROTHMEIER Director March 17, 2004

Steven G. Rothmeier

/s/ VIN WEBER Director March 17, 2004

Vin Weber
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Department 56, Inc.:

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Department 56, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of January 3, 2004 and December 28, 2002 and the related
consolidated statements of income, cash flows, and stockholders” equity for the years ended January 3, 2004, December 28, 2002, and December 29, 2001, Our audit also
included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15, These consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of January 3, 2004 and December 28,
2002 and the resutlts of its operations and its cash flows for the years ended January 3, 2004, December 28, 2002, and December 29, 2001 in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated
financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2002 the Company changed its method of accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets to conform
to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142.

Deloitte & Touche LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
March 1, 2004




DEPARTMENT 56, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
{In thousands, except per share amounts)
AS OF JANUARY 3, 2004 AND DECEMBER 28, 2002

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $8,678 and $10,382, respectively
Inventories
Deferred taxes
Other current assets

Total current assets
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, net
GOODWILL, net of accumulated amortization of $38,708

TRADEMARKS AND OTHER INTANGIBLES, net of accumulated amortization
of $6,048 and $6,035, respectively

OTHER ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Current portion of long-term debt
Accounts payable
Accrued compensation and benefits
Income taxes payable
Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities
OTHER LIABILITIES
DEFERRED TAXES
LONG-TERM DEBT
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 8)
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value; authorized 20,000 shares; no shares issued
Common stock, $.01 par value; authorized 100,000 shares; issued
22,363 and 22,259 shares, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Uneamed compensation - restricted shares
Treasury stock, at cost; 9,195 and 9,178 shares, respectively
Retained earnings

Total stockholders’ equity

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

2003 2002
$ 22,487 S 4249
20,999 32,620
14,594 14,324
7.797 5,955
3.924 3,138
69,801 98,531
17,664 20,908
37,074 44,986
14,557 15,075
3,208 1,825
$ 142,304 $ 181,325
$ — $ 2,235
8,563 8,172
6,509 9,936
3.513 3252
1,567 2,051
20,152 25,646
3,015 1,358
4,841 5,808
— 51,765
224 223
54,020 52,900
(514) (754)
(216,963) (216,742)
277,529 261,121
114,296 96,748
$ 142,304 $ 181,325




DEPARTMENT 56, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

YEARS ENDED JANUARY 3, 2004, DECEMBER 28, 2002, AND DECEMBER 29, 2001

NET SALES
COST OF SALES
Gross profit
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Selling, general and administrative
Impairment of Geppeddo assets

Amortization of goodwill, trademarks and other intangibles

Total operating expenses

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS

OTHER EXPENSE (INCOME):
Interest expense
Litigation settlement
Impairment and equity in losses of minority investment
Other, net

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES

INCOME BEFORE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF CHANGE
IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE

CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING
PRINCIPLE

NET INCOME (LOSS)

INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE - BASIC:

INCOME PER SHARE BEFORE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF CHANGE

IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE

CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE

NET INCOME (LOSS) PER COMMON SHARE -~ BASIC

INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE - DILUTED:

INCOME PER SHARE BEFORE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF CHANGE

IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE

CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE

NET INCOME (LOSS) PER COMMON SHARE -~ DILUTED

See notes to consolidated financial statements,
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2003

2002

2001

191,714 $ 208,624 200,447
89,053 90,305 89,845
102,661 118,319 110,602
66,632 76,758 68,589
9.140 - _
235 243 5,189
76,007 77,006 73,178
26,654 41,313 36,824
1,954 3,426 7,036
— (5,388) —
_ - 3,304
(938) (386) {662)
25,638 43,661 27,146
9,230 11,820 11,184
16,408 31,841 15,962
— (93,654) -
16,408 $ (61,813) 15,962
1.25 $ 245 1.24
- (7.21) —
1.25 $ (4.76) 1.24
1.24 $ 2.42 1.24
- (7.13) —
1.24 $ (4.70) 1.24




DEPARTMENT 56, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
YEARS ENDED JANUARY 3, 2004, DECEMBER 28, 2002, AND DECEMBER 29, 2001

2003 2002 2001
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income (loss) $ 16,408 $ (61,813) $ 15,962
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net
cash provided by operating activities:
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — 93,654 —
Depreciation 4,758 4,888 5,873
Loss (gain) on sale of assets 37 nm (62)
Impairment of Geppeddo assets 9,140 — —_
Impairment and equity in losses of minority investment — — 3,304
Amortization of goodwill, trademarks and other intangibles 235 248 5,189
Amortization of deferred financing fees 474 385 385
. Compensation expense — restricted shares 240 263 152
Deferred taxes (2,809) (546) 2,773
Changes in"assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 11,621 (9,825) 13,488
Inventories (270) (3,173) 5,102
Other assets (2,418) 620 797
Accounts payable 391 (2,639) 2,659
Accrued compensation and benefits payable (3,427) 2,508 1,026
Accrued income taxes payable 261 (5,374) 1,831
Other liabilities : 1,292 1,276 2)
Net cash provided by operating activities 35,933 20,583 56,883
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property and equipment (2,510) (1,928) (2,906)
Proceeds from sale of assets — — 142
Litigation settlement — reduction in net depreciable assets — 5,618 —
Acquisitions _ —_ (9,729)
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (2,510) 3,690 (12,493)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from the exercise of common stock options 1,016 1,239 —_
Payments of deferred financing fees (225) — —
Borrowings on revolving credit agreement 42,000 38,000 35,000
Principal payments on revolving credit agreement (42,000) (38,000) (35,000)
Purchases of treasury stock (221) (106) —_
Principal payments on long-term debt (54,000) (31,000) (20,000)
Net cash used in financing activities (53,430) (29,867) (20,000)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (20,007) (5,554) 24,390
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD 42,494 48,088 23,698
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD $ 22487 $ 42,494 $ 48,088

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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DEPARTMENT 56, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

{in thousands)

YEARS ENDED JANUARY 3, 2004, DECEMBER 28, 2002, AND DECEMBER 28, 2001

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Unearned
Common Stock  4gitional Compensation Total
Pald-in Restricted Treasury Retalned Stockholders’
Shares Amount Capital Shares Stock Eamings Equity
BALANCE AS OF DECEMBER 30, 2000 12824 § 220 § 50019 § —  $(216,636 $306972 § 140,575
Net income 15,962 15,962
Restricted shares issued 67 1 578 (579) —
Restricted shares vested 152 152
Other 6 58 58
BALANCE AS OF DECEMBER 29, 2001 12,897 221 50,655 [Criy (216,636) 322,934 156,747
Net loss (61,813) (61,813)
Shares issued upon the exercise of
commion stock options 142 1 1,555 1,556
Restricted shares surrendered (12) 51 (106) (35)
Restricted shares issued 50 1 640 (641) -
Restricted-shares vested 263 263
Other 4 50 50
BALANCE AS OF DECEMBER 28, 2002 13,081 223 52,900 (754) (216,742) 261,121 96,748
Net income 16,408 16,408
Shares issued upon the exercise of
common stock options 100 ] 1,070 1,071
Restricted shares surrendered an (221) (221)
Restricted shares vested 240 240
Other 4 50 50
BALANCE AS OF JANUARY 3, 2004 13,168 § 224 § 54020 § (514) $(216,963) $277,52 § 114,296
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DEPARTMENT 56, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business — Department 56, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the Company) is engaged in the original design and wholesale and retail distribution of specialty giftware products
and dolls. The majority of the Company’s products are developed and designed by the Company’s in-house creative team and are manufactured for the Company
by independently owned foreign ménufacturers located primarily in the People’s Republic of China. The Company’s wholesale customer base and accounts
receivable are primarily composed of, and are due from, retail stores of various sizes located throughout the United States and Canada. Approximately 3% of total
revenue is derived from customers outside the United States and all long-lived assets are located within the United States. No customer represents more than 3% of
total revenue in any period presented.

Principles of Consolidation ~ The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation,

Fiscal Year End - The Company’s policy is to end its fiscal year on the Saturday closest to December 31. The year ended January 3, 2004 includes 53 weeks and
the years ended December 28, 2002 and December 29, 2001 include 52 weeks.

Cash Equivalents — AH highly liquid debt instruments with original maturities of three months or less are considered to be cash equivalents. These investments are
carried at cost, which approximates market value.

Inventories- Inventories consist of finished goods and are stated at the lower of average cost, which approximates first-in, first-out cost, or net realizable value. The
Company records inventory at the date of taking title, which typically occurs when product is delivered to a foreign port. As a result, at certain times during the
year, the Company has significant in-transit quantities, as inventory is sourced primarily from the People’s Republic of China and other Pacific Rim countries. Each
period, the Company adjusts identified excess and slow-moving inventory to its net realizable value.

Property and Equipment - Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is computed on a straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
assets (or in the case of leasehold improvements, the shorter of the estimated useful lives or lease terms). Estimated useful lives range from 2 to 45 years. Major
improvements and replacements of property are capitalized. Maintenance, repairs, and minor improvements are expensed.

Long-Lived Assets — The Company’s principal long-lived assets are its property and equipment, which consists of its building at its corporate headquarters and
computer equipment, furniture and fixtures, machinery, and leasehold improvements at its corporate headquarters, distribution center, showrooms and retail stores.
The Company annually reviews its long-lived assets for impairment. In 2003, the Company recognized an impairment charge of $0.9 million related to long-lived
assets at its Geppeddo subsidiary. See Note 2.

Goodwill, Trademarks, and Other Intangible Assets — On December 30, 2001, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142,
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, which requires that goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives no longer be amortized, but
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instead tested for impairment annually. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 142, the Company performed impairment testing and concluded that goodwill related to the
wholesale operating segment was impaired. As a result, the Company recorded a $93,654 charge to write-down its goodwill. The Company determined that its
trademarks are indefinite-lived intangible assets and ceased amortization. Intangible assets associated with non-compete agreements are amortized over the life of
the agreement. See Note 4.

In 2003, the Company recorded an $8,193 charge to write-down its goodwill, trademarks and other intangible assets related to Geppeddo as a result of the decision
to cease operations. See Note 2.

Revenue Recognition — The Company sells its products through wholesale channels and directly to retail customers. Revenue from wholesale customers is
recognized when shipped while revenue from the sale of merchandise to retail customers is recognized at the time of sale. The Company believes that these are the
times when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the Company’s price is fixed and collectibility is reasonably assured. Revenue is
recognized net of any applicable discounts and allowances. Customers, be they wholesale or retail, do have the right to return product in certain limited situations.
Such rights of returns have not precluded revenue recognition because the Company has a long history with such returns on which it constructs a reserve, Sales
returns and credits as a percentage of wholesale sales have historically been between 3% and 5%.

Advertising Expense — The Company records advertising expense in accordance with Statement of Position No. 93-7. Costs to produce an advertisement are
expensed when the advertisement occurs. Costs to reimburse retailers for cooperative advertising are accrued and expensed when the product is shipped. All
advertising costs are recorded in selling, general and administrative expense. Advertising expense for 2003, 2002, and 2001 was $2,124, $2,754, and $1,767,
respectively.

Product Development Expense —The Company’s product development costs consist principally of salaries to internal creative talent, royalties paid to outside
artists, and costs incurred in developing product samples. The Company expenses as incurred the salaries of creative talent and records it in selling, general and
administrative expensé. The Company capitalizes into inventory the cost of royalties paid to outside artists and records it in cost of sales as the product is sold. The
cost to develop product samples is expensed as incurred and recorded in cost of sales.

Freight Expense — Freight expenses for products shipped to customers (freight-out) are included in cost of products sold, in accordance with Emerging Issues Task
Force Issue No. 00-10, Accounting for Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs.

Pre-Opening Costs — Non-capital expenditures associated with opening new Company-owned retail stores are expensed as incurred.

Income Taxes — Deferred income taxes are recognized for the tax consequences in future years of differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
financial reporting amounts at each year-end based on enacted tax laws and statutory tax rates applicable to the periods in which the differences are expected to
affect taxable income.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Gains and Losses — The Company imports most of its products and, while the majority of these purchases are denominated in
United States dollars, some of the purchases are denominated in foreign currency. In addition, the Company’s sales to Canadian customers are denominated in
Canadian dollars. Foreign exchange rate gains and losses are included in other expense (income) within the accompanying consolidated statements of income.
During 2003, the Company benefited from the appreciation of the Canadian dollar relative to the United States dollar and recognized $677 in foreign currency
exchange rate gains. There were no significant foreign currency exchange rate gains or losses in 2002, and in 2001 the Company recognized a $301 loss. The
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Company may periodically enter into foreign exchange contracts or build foreign currency deposits as a partial hedge against currency fluctuations. The Company
did not enter into any foreign exchange contracts during 2003, 2002 or 2001.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments — The carrying amount of the majority of the Company’s assets and liabilities including cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, accounts payable, and commissions payable approximates fair value because of the short-term nature of these instruments. Other assets and liabilities
are recorded at fair value. See Note 7.

Stock-Based Compensation — The Company’s stock-based compensation plans consist of fixed stock options and restricted stock.

The Company applies Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related interpretations in accounting for its
plans. Accordingly, no compensation cost has been recognized for options granted. Had compensation cost been determined based on the fair value of the 2001,
2002, and 2003 stock option grants consistent with the method of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, as amended by SFAS No. 148,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure, the Company’s net income and net income per common share assuming dilution would
have been reduced to the pro forma amounts indicated below:

2003 2002 2001

Net income (loss):

As reported $ 16,408 $(61,813) $ 15,962

Pro forma 14,518 (64,573) 14,583
Net income (loss) per common share — basic:

As reported $ 125 3 (4706) $ 124

-~ Pro forma 1.11 497 1.13

Net income (loss) per common share — assuming dilution:

As reported $ 124 $ (470 $ 124

Pro forma 1.10 (4.91) 1.13

In determining the preceding pro forma amounts under SFAS No. 148, the fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions used for grants in 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively: risk-free interest rates of 3.2 percent,
4.9 percent, and 4.9 percent; expected volatility of 50 percent; expected lives of six years; and no expected dividends. The effects of applying SFAS No. 148 in this
pro forma disclosure are not indicative of future compensation costs; additional awards are anticipated. SFAS No. 148 does not apply to awards prior to 1995.

For issuances of restricted stock, the Company records unearned compensation expense on the grant date based on the fair market value of the Company’s stock and
amortizes the balance over the vesting period.

Net Income (Loss) per Common Share — Net income (loss) per common share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of shares
outstanding during the period. Net income (loss) per common share assuming dilution reflects per share amounts that would have resulted had the Company’s
outstanding stock options been converted to common stock. See Note 13.
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Management Estimates — The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Reclassifications— Certain previous year amounts have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation. These reclassifications had no impact on
consolidated net income or retained earnings as previously reported.

New Accounting Standards - In July 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Assaciated with Exit or
Disposal Activities. This Statement requires that a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized when the liability is incurred, rather
than when a company commits to an exit plan as was previously required. SFAS No. 146 is effective for exit or disposal activities that are initiated after December
31, 2002. The new standard will cause the Company to recognize liabilities related to the planned discontinuance of Geppeddo operations once the liability is
incurred.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity. This Statement
requires that certain financial instruments previously accounted for as equity under previous guidance be classified as liabilities in statements of financial position.
Such financial instruments include (i) mandatorily redeemable shares that the issuer is obligated to buy back in exchange for cash or other assets; (ii) instruments,
including put options and forward purchase contracts, that require the issuer to buy back some of its shares in exchange for cash or other assets; and (jii) obligations
that can be settled with shares, the monetary value of which is fixed, tied solely or predominantly to a variable such as a market index, or varies inversely with the
value of the issuer’s shares. SFAS No. 150 became effective for all financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003 and otherwise is effective at
the beginning of the first interim.period beginning after June 15, 2003. The adoption of SFAS No. 150 on July 6, 2003 did not have a material impact on the
Company’s results of operations or financial condition.

In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. (FIN) 45, Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others. FIN 45 elaborates on the disclosures to be made by a guarantor about its obligations under certain guarantees that it has
issued. It also clarifies that a guarantor is required to recognize, at the inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligation undertaken in issuing
the guarantee. The recognition and measurement provisions of FIN 45 were effective for all guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002. The Company
currently does not have any guarantees requiring disclosure or measurement under FIN 45.

In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of ARB No. 51. In December 2003, the FASB issued FIN
46R, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, a revision of FIN 46. The provisions of FIN 46R are effective for interests in variable interest entities (VIE) as of
the first interim, or annual, period ending after December 15, 2003 except for VIEs considered special-purpose entities or for those VIEs that already applied FIN
46 in a previous period. The adoption of FIN 46R did not have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations or financial condition.
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2. PLANNED DISPOSITION OF GEPPEDDO SEASONAL KIOSK BUSINESS

In December 2003, the Company committed to a plan to cease operations of its Geppeddo seasonal kiosk business. The Company plans to wind down operations in
2004 and anticipates that operations will cease in the second quarter of 2004, In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the Company will present Geppeddo’s results in
continuing operations in 2003 and 2004 until the run-off of operations is complete. When the run-off is complete, the Geppeddo results will be reclassified into
discontinued operations for all periods presented.

As a result of the decision to cease Geppeddo’s operations, the Company recognized $9,140 in asset impairment charges. The charges included an $8,193 charge
related to the full write-off of goodwill, trademarks, and other intangible assets, and a $947 charge related to the impairment of long-lived assets. In addition, the
Company recognized a $607 charge within cost of sales to write down inventory to its net realizable value.

The results from Geppeddo’s operations are as follows:

2003 2002 20011
Percent of Percent of Percont of
Doilars Net Sales Dollars Net Sales Dollars Net Sales
Net sales $ 15877 100% $ 18,143 100% $ 11,970 100%
Gross profit 8,960 56 12,130 67 8,100 68
Selling, general and administrative
expenses 12,861 81 16,212 89 6,151 51
Impairment of ‘assets 9,140 58 - - —_ —_
Amortization of goodwill, trademarks
and other intangibles 92 1 91 1 40 —
(Loss) income from operations (13,133) 83 (4,173) 23 1,909 16
Other (income) expense (14) —_ (36) — 35 —
(Loss) income before income taxes (13,119) 83 (4,137) 23 1,874 16
Income tax (benefit) provision (4,781) 30 (1,570) 9 712 6
Net (loss) income (8,338) 53 (2,367) 14 1,162 10

! Reflects results of operations of Geppeddo subsequent to the acquisition date in the third quarter of 2001.

3. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment at January 3, 2004 and December 28, 2002 is comprised of the following:

2003 2002
Leasehold improvements $ 8,333 3 7,015
Furniture and fixtures 5,240 6,088
Computer hardware and software 10,597 12,342
Other equipment 6,550 6,456
Building 7,223 7,216
Land ' 906 906

38,849 40,023
Less accumulated depreciation 21,185 19,115
Property and equipment, net $ 17,664 $ 20,908

The long-lived assets of Geppeddo were written-off during 2003 as a result of the decision to cease operations of the subsidiary. See Note 2.
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GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS ~ ADOPTION OF SFAS No. 142

Effective at the beginning of fiscal year 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 142,
amortization of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets ceased. The Company determined that its trademarks are indefinite-lived intangible assets and ceased
amortization. Recorded goodwill was tested for impairment by comparing the fair value to its carrying value. As a result of the fair market value analysis, the
Company recorded a $93,654 charge as a cumulative effect of change in accounting principle during the first quarter of 2002.

Had SFAS No. 142 been effective at the beginning of 2001, the non-amortization provisions would have had the following effect on the results of the years ended
January 3, 2004, December 28, 2002 and December 29, 2001:

2003 2002 2001
Reported net income (loss) $ 16,408 $  (61,813) 3 15,962
Add back: Goodwill amortization — — 4,432
Add back: Trademark amortization, net of tax —_ —_ 289
Adjusted net income (loss) $ 16,408 $  (61,813) $ 20,683
Add back: Cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle — 93,654 —
_ Adjusted earnings before
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle $ 16,408 $ 31,841 3 20,683
Basic earnings per share:
Reported net income (loss) per share $ 1.25 3 (4.76) 3 1.24
Goodwill amortization — — 0.34
Trademark amortization, net of tax — — 0.02
Adjusted net income (loss) per share $ 1.25 $ (4.76) $ 1.61
Add back: Cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle — 7.21 —
Adjusted eamnings per share before cumulative
effect of change in accounting principle $ 1.25 $ 245 $ 1.61
Diluted earnings per share:
Reported net income (loss) per share 3 1.24 $ (4.70) 3 1.24
Goodwill amortization — — 0.34
Trademark amortization, net of tax — — 0.02
Adjusted net income (loss) per share $ 1.24 $ (4.70) $ 1.60
Add back: Cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle —_ 713 _
Adjusted earnings per share before cumulative
effect of change in accounting principle 3 1.24 $ 242 $ 1.60

During the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company performed its annual review of goodwill and other intangible assets for possible impairment as required by SFAS
No. 142, The Company evaluated the goodwill and other intangible assets related to its wholesale operating segment and determined there was no impairment. As a
result of its decision to cease operations at Geppeddo, the Company recognized an $8,193 charge to write-off all of the goodwill, trademarks and non-compete
agreements related to Geppeddo. See Note 2.

F-11




In accordance with SFAS No. 142, the Company will continue to amortize non-compete agreements (i.e. finite-lived intangible assets). Amortization of non-
compete agreements was $235, $248 and $304 during the years ended January 3, 2004, December 28, 2002, and December 29, 2001, respectively. Expected annual
amortization expense for non-compete agreements recorded as of January 3, 2004 is as follows:

2004 $ 140
2005 140
2006 140
2007 140
2008 140
Thereafter 96

$ 796

The above amortization expense forecast is an estimate. Actual amounts of amortization expense may differ from estimated amounts due to additional intangible
asset acquisitions, impairment of intangible assets, accelerated amortization of intangible assets, and other events,

Included in Goodwill, Trademarks and Other Intangibles on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of January 3, 2004, December 28, 2002 and December
29, 2001, are the following acquired intangible assets by operating segment (net of accumulated amortization):

2003 2002 2001
“WHOLESALE:
Goodwill $ 37,074 $ 37,074 $ 130,728
Trademarks 13,761 13,761 13,761
Non-compete agreements 796 940 1,097
$ 51,631 $ 51,775 $ 145,586
RETAIL:
Goodwill 3 — $ 7,912 $ 7,912
Trademarks — 137 137
Non-compete agreements —_— 237 328
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CREDIT AGREEMENT

Long-term debt at January 3, 2004 and December 28, 2002 is comprised of the following:

2003 2002
Total debt $§ —  $54,000
Less borrowings classified as current — 2,235
$ — 851,765

v

In November 2003, the Company entered into a new three-year credit agreement. In connection therewith, the Company recorded $0.2 million in deferred financing
fees, which are being amortized over the life of the credit agreement. The Company used the new credit facility to refinance the remaining term and revolving loans
under its former credit agreement. As of January 3, 2004, no revolving loans were outstanding under the new credit agreement.
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The revolving credit facility provides for borrowings of up to $75 million, which may be in the form of letters of credit and revolving credit loans. The letters of
credit are issued primarily in connection with inventory purchases. The revolving credit facility includes an annual clean-down provision whereby the Company’s
outstanding revolving credit loans and letters of credit may not exceed an aggregate of $30 million during any one 30-consecutive-day period beginning November
1 and ending March 31 of the following year. Borrowings under the credit agreement are subject to certain borrowing base limitations (as defined). The Company’s
borrowing capacity under the revolving credit facility as of January 3, 2004 was $75 million and will fluctuate during 2004 based on accounts receivable and
inventory levels. The revolving line of credit provides for commitment fees of 0.20% to 0.375% per annum on the daily average of the unused commitment.

The credit agreement allows the Company to choose between two interest rate options in connection with its revolving credit loans. The interest rate options are the
Floating Rate (as defined) or the Eurodollar Rate (as defined) plus an applicable margin. The applicable margin ranges from 0% to 0.375% for Floating Rate loans
and from 0.875% to 1.25% for Eurodollar Rate loans. The credit agreement expires November 26, 2006,

The credit agreement includes restrictions as to, among other things, the amount of additional indebtedness, liens, contingent obligations, investments and
dividends. Under the most restrictive of these covenants, approximately $251 million of retained earnings were restricted at January 3, 2004, The credit agreement

also requires maintenance of minimum levels of interest coverage, net worth and maximum levels of leverage, in each case at the end of each fiscal quarter. None of
these restrictions are expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s ability to operate in the future.

The Company has pledged the common stock of certain of its subsidiaries, direct and indirect, as collateral under the credit agreement, and certain of its
subsidiaries, direct and indirect, have guaranteed repayment of amounts borrowed under the credit agreement.

The Company paid interest of $1,954, $3,735, and $6,648 during the years ended January 3, 2004, December 28, 2002, and December 29, 2001, respectively.
INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes for the years ended January 3, 2004, December 28, 2002, and December 29, 2001 consisted of the following:

2003 2002 2001

Current:

Federal 3 10,956 3 15,104 $ 8,799

State 1,039 605 477

Foreign 44 118 135
Deferred:

Federal 2,731) (508) 2,554

State (78) (38) 219
Adjustment of prior year tax accruals —_— (3,461) (1,000)

3 9,230 $ 11,820 $ 11,184
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The reconciliation between income tax expense based on statutory income tax rates and the provision for income taxes is as follows:

2003 2002 2001
Income taxes at federal statutory rate $ 8,973 $ 15,281 $ 9,501
State income taxes, net of

federal income tax deductions 625 368 332
Goodwill amortization — —_ 1,448
Deferred tax valuation allowance — — 1,520
Charitable donations of inventory (255) (141) (681)
Adjustment of prior year tax accruals — (3,461) (1,000)
Other (113) 227 64
Provision for income taxes $ 9,230 3 11,820 $ 11,184

The components of the net deferred tax asset at January 3, 2004 and December 28, 2002 were as follows:
2003 2002
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS:
Asset valuation reserves $ 4,222 $ 5,256
.. Loss on minority investment 1,520 1,520

Deferred compensation 1,048 696

Accrued liabilities 428 465

Impairment of Geppeddo assets 2,766 —

Other 1,022 860

Less: Deferred tax valuation allowance (1,520) (1,520)

Total deferred tax assets 9,486 7,277
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES:

Trademark amortization (5,297) (5,458)

Property and equipment depreciation (1,026) (1,520)

Other (207) (152)

Total deferred tax liabilities (6,530) (7,130)
3 2,956 $ 147

The $2,956 net deferred tax asset at January 3, 2004 is presented as a net deferred current asset of $7,797 and a net deferred noncurrent liability of $4,841. The $147
net deferred tax asset at December 28, 2002 is presented as a net deferred current asset of $5,955 and a net deferred noncurrent liability of $5,808. The $1,520
deferred tax asset valuation allowance at December 28, 2002 represents a reserve against the future deductibility of the capital losses the Company recognized from
its minority investment in 2-Day Designs. Management believes the probability of deducting the capital losses in the future is remote.

The Company paid income taxes of $11,616, $17,432, and $6,739 during the years ended January 3, 2004, December 28, 2002, and December 29, 2001,
respectively.

OTHER ASSETS AND OTHER LIABILITIES

The Company has a compensation plan for its officers and Board of Directors whereby participants may elect to forego a portion of their current compensation in

exchange for options to purchase shares from several publicly traded mutual funds. The Company funds this plan by purchasing and owning the underlying assets
which are considered “trading” securities in accordance with SFAS No. 115,
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Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities, and are consequently marked-to-market. The plan participants bear the potential economic risks
and rewards of the underlying investment’s performance and their interests in the underlying plan assets are subordinate to general creditors. While officers and
Board members may request payment at any time, the liability is classified as noncurrent as supported by historical experience and because any payment would be
funded by noncurrent assets. The assets of the plan (included in other assets on the balance sheet) and the related liability to participants (included in other liabilities
on the balance sheet) were $1,358 and $3,015 as of December 28, 2002 and January 3, 2004, respectively.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating Leases — The Company leases warehouse, office and retail store space, equipment, and showroom display facilities under renewable operating leases
with remaining terms of up to 10 years. In addition to the base rent, the Company pays its proportionate share of taxes, special assessments, and operating expenses
of the warehouse and retail store space and showroom display facilities.

The following is a schedule of future annual minimum lease payments for noncancelable operating leases as of January 3, 2004:

2004 $ 4,140
2005 4,245
2006 3,889
2007 3,017
2008 3,021
Thereafter 5,850

$ 24,162

The Company’s rental expense was $8,786, $9,368, and $7,252 for the years ended January 3, 2004, December 28, 2002, and December 29, 2001, respectively.

Letters of Credit — The Company had outstanding standby and commercial letters of credit amounting to $1,993 at January 3, 2004 relating primarily to purchase
commitments issued to foreign suppliers and vendors.

Legal Proceedings — On March 1, 2002, the Company received net proceeds (before income taxes) of $11.0 million in settlement of the Company’s litigation
against Arthur Andersen LLP and Andersen Worldwide Société Coopérative concerning implementation of its information systems. This recovery resulted in other
income of $5.4 million and a $5.6 million reduction in net depreciable assets.

In addition to the above lawsuit, the Company is involved in various legal proceedings, claims, and governmental audits in the ordinary course of its business. The
Company believes it has meritorious defenses to all proceedings, claims, and audits. Management believes the impact, if any, of these legal proceedings would not
be material to the results of operations, financial position or cash flows of the Company.

RETIREMENT PLAN

The Company has a qualified contributory retirement plan (the Plan) under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code which covers substantially all full-time
employees who meet certain eligibility requirements. Voluntary contributions are made by participants and Company matching contributions are made at the
discretion of the Board of Directors, subject to certain limitations. The Plan also allows the Company to make discretionary profit-sharing contributions to the Plan
up to the maximum amount deductible for income tax purposes. All company contributions are invested in a series of diversified
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investment options at the election of the employee. The Company does not make matching or profit sharing contributions in company stock. The Company’s total
profit-sharing contributions were $1,854, $1,361, and $1,857 for the years ended January 3, 2004, December 28, 2002, and December 29, 2001, respectively.

ACQUISITIONS

During 2001, the Company completed its $9.7 million acquisition of the business of Axis Corporation, a privately held designer, importer, and specialty retailer
based in Salt Lake City, Utah. Axis’ products, primarily dolls, dol! accessories, and plush items, are marketed under the brand name Geppeddo. The acquired
business operated customized kiosks located in major malls and shopping centers throughout the United States during the peak holiday shopping season. The asset
acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. In December 2003, the Company committed to a plan to cease operations of its Geppeddo
seasonal kiosk business. See Note 2.

During 2001, the Company recognized a $3.0 million impairment of the Company’s minority investment in 2-Day Designs, Inc. The impairment charge reduced the
carrying value of the Company’s minority investment to zero. The Company has not guaranteed any debt obligations of 2-Day Designs, Inc.

SEGMENTS OF THE COMPANY AND RELATED INFORMATION

The Company has two reportable segments — wholesale and retail. Although the product produced and sold for each segment is similar, the type of customer for the
product and the method used to distribute the product are different. The segmentation of these operations also reflects how the Company’s chief executive officer
(the “CEO™) currently reviews the results of these operations. Income from operations for each operating segment includes specifically identifiable operating costs
such as cost of sales and selling expenses. General and administrative expenses are generally not allocated to specific operating segments and are therefore reflected
in the other category. Other components of the statement of operations, which are classified below income from operations, are also not ailocated by segment. In
addition, the Company generally does not account for or report assets, capital expenditures, or depreciation and amortization by segment. All transactions between
operating segments have been eliminated and are not included in the table below,

The following table presents the Company’s segment information for the last three fiscal years:

Wholesale Retalt Other Consolidated
Fifty-Three Weeks Ended January 3, 2004:
Net sales $166,895 $ 24,819 3 191,714
Income (loss) from operations 72,191 (14,007) $ (31,530) 26,654
Fifty-Two Weeks Ended December 28, 2002:
Net sales $180,364 § 28,260 $ 208,624
Income (loss) from operations 82,177 (4,621) § (36,243) 41,313
Fifty-Two Weeks Ended December 29, 2001
Net sales $181,056 $ 19,391 $ 200,447
Income (loss) from operations 81,219 1,851  § (46,246) 36,824
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12. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Stock-Based Compensation Plans ~At January 3, 2004, the Company has compensation plans allowing the Company to grant options, stock appreciation rights,
shares or performance units to employees, directors, officers, consultants, and advisors. Under the stock option plans, all employee options granted have an exercise
price equal to the market value of the common stock at the date of grant, generally have a term of ten years, and generally are exercisable in equal installments
beginning on each of the first, second, and third anniversaries of the date of the grant. At January 3, 2004, 256,831 shares were available for granting under the
stock option and incentive plans.

A summary of the status of the Company’s stock option and incentive plans as of January 3, 2004, December 28, 2002, and December 29, 2001, and changes during
the years then ended is presented below:

2003 2002 2001
Weighted Weighted Welghted
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price
Outstanding at beginning of year 2,266,409 $ 14.96 1,535,727 S 16.15 2,533,581  § 2254
Granted 46,405 16.05 1,004,268 12.89 286,817 8.16
Exercised (100,066) 9.08 (127,414) 9.41 — —
-Forfeited a (27,967} 18.77 (146,172) 17.65 (1,284,671) 26.32
Outstandixig at end of year 2,184,781 15.08 2,266,409 14.96 1,535,727 16.15
Options exercisable at end of year 1,665,676 15.83 937,419 18.75 852,999 20.06
Weighted average fair value of
options granted during the year $ 6.85 $ 7.00 3 4.53

The following table summarizes information about the Company’s stock option and incentive plans at January 3, 2004:

Weighted

Number Average Waeighted Number Weighted

Range of Outstanding Remaining Average Exercisable Average
Exercise at January 3, Contractual Exercise at January 3, Exercise

Prices 2004 Life (years) Price 2004 Price

$ 6.54-12.50 387,661 7.1 $ 8.65 328,154 $ 866
12.51-13.75 800,236 82 12.80 487,958 12.80
13.76-15.00 540,633 7.1 13.85 403,980 13.84
15.01-37.75 456,251 36 2598 445,584 26.22
2,184,781 6.8 15.08 1,665,676 15.83

In addition to the above option plans, additional options exercisable at $3.33 per share were issued to directors in prior years. Of those options, the remaining
15,000 were exercised in 2002

Shareholder Rights Plan—In April 1997, the Company adopted a shareholder rights plan, Under the shareholder rights plan, each shareholder received a dividend of
one preferred share purchase right for each share held of the Company’s common stock. Each right entitles the holder to purchase one one-thousandth of a share of
Series A Participating Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $100, subject to adjustment, or at the discretion of the Board of Directors of the Company, the right to
purchase common stock of the Company at a 50% discount. The rights become exercisable only upon the occurrence of certain events involving a buyer acquiring
18.5% or greater beneficial ownership in the Company’s common stock or the announcement of a tender offer or exchange offer which, if consummated, would

give the buyer beneficial ownership of an 18.5% or greater position in the Company. Preferred share purchase rights owned by the buyer become null and void
following this occurrence. The rights will
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expire April 2007, and the Company may redeem the rights at any time (prior to the occurrence of a specified event) at a price of one cent per right. If the Company
is acquired in a merger or similar transaction after such an occurrence, all rights holders, except the buyer, will have the right to purchase stock in the buyer ata
50% discount.

Performance-Accelerated Vesting Restricted Stock - The Company granted 66,499 and 49,625 performance-accelerated vesting restricted shares of common stock
(PARS) to executive officers during 2002 and 2001, respectively. There were no grants of PARS during 2003. PARS generally vest over five years in equal annual
installments on December 31 of the calendar year in which the grant was made and on each December 31 thereafter. For all PARS grants, accelerated vesting is
possible upon achievement of targeted diluted eamnings per share performance. Of the 49,625 PARS granted in 2001, 10,359 were issued at an exchange ratio of
1:100 for the surrender by certain executive officers of options to purchase 1,035,833 shares of common stock. At January 3, 2004, 44,985 PARS were unvested
and outstanding.

The Company records unearned compensation expense on the grant date based on the publicly quoted fair market value of the Company’s common stock, and
amortizes the balance over the vesting period. The Company recorded unearned compensation of approximately $0.6 million in both 2002 and 2001, which is
recorded within stockholders’ equity. The Company recognized compensation expense of $240, $263 and $152 for the years ended January 3, 2004, December 28,
2002, and December 29, 2001, respectively.

INCOME PER COMMON SHARE

The following tables reconcile net income (loss) per common share and net income (loss) per common share assuming dilution:

2003 2002 2001

Net incofiie (loss) 3 16,408 $ (61,813) § 15,962
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 13,118,000 12,998,000 12,878,000
Net income (loss) per common share — basic $ 1.25 $ 4.76) $ 1.24
Net income (loss) $ 16,408 $ (61,813) $ 15,962
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 13,118,000 12,998,000 12,878,000
Dilutive impact of options outstanding 92,000 143,000 30,000
Weighted average number of shares and

potential dilutive shares outstanding 13,210,000 13,141,000 12,908,000
Net income (loss) per common share -

assuming dilution $ 1.24 $ 470y $ 1.24

Options to purchase 998,884, 990,278, and 1,225,577 shares of common stock were outstanding at January 3, 2004, December 28, 2002, and December 29, 2001,
respectively, but were not included in the computation of net income (loss) per common share assuming dilution because the exercise prices were greater than the
average market price of the common stock.
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DEPARTMENT 56, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULEll
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
(In thousands)

Column A Column B Column C Column D Column E
Bafance Charged to Bafance

Beginning Costs and End of

" Desoription of Perlod Exp Deduct! Period

Year ended January 3, 2004:

Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 6,529 $ 1,761 $  2,576® $ 5714
Allowance for sales returns and credits 3,853 4,582 5,471 2,964
$ 10,382 $ 6,343 $ 8,047 3 8,678

Year ended December 28, 2002:

Allowance for doubtful accounts 3 6,462 3 1,232 $ 1,165® $ 6,529
Allowance for sales returns and credits 5,480 4,132 5,759 3,853
3 11,942 3 5,364 $ 6,924 S 10,382

Year ended December 29, 2001;

Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 10,483 $ 545 $  4,566@ $ 6462
Allowance for sales returns and credits 9,108 4,603 8,231 5,480
$ 19,591 5 5148 $ 12,797 $ 11,942

(2) Accounts determined to be uncollectible and charged against allowance account, net of collections on accounts previously charged against allowance account.
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Exhibit 10.10
DEPARTMENT 56, INC.

2004 CASH INCENTIVE PLAN
(EFFECTIVE FEBRUARY 18, 2004)

Section 1. Purpose.

The purpose of the 2004 Cash Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) is to promote the interests of Department 56, Inc. (“Department 56™) and its subsidiaries (the “Company”)
by providing eligible key employees of the Company with incentive to assist the Company in meeting and exceeding its business goals.

Section 2, Administration.

(a) The Plan shall be administered by the Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) of the Board of Directors of Department 56 (the “Board™) from among
its members and shall be comprised of not fewer than two members who shall be “outside directors” within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended (the “Code”), and the regulations thereunder.

(b) The:Committee may, subjéct to the provisions of the Plan, establish, adopt or revise rules and regulations relating to the Plan or take such actions as it deems
necessary or advisable for the proper administration of the Plan. The Committee shall have the authority to interpret the Plan in its absolute discretion. Each interpretation
made or action taken by the Committee pursuant to the Plan shall be final and conclusive for all purposes and binding upon all Participants (as defined in Section 3) or
former Participants and their successors in interest.

{¢) Neither the Committee nor any member of the Committee shall be liable for any act, omission, interpretation, construction or determination made in good
faith in connection with the Plan, and the members of the Committee shall be entitled to indemnification and reimbursement by Department 56 in respect of any claim, loss,
damage or expense (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees) arising or resulting therefrom to the fullest extent permitted by law.

Section 3. Eligibility,

Awards may be granted to key employees of the Company who are selected for participation in the Plan by the Committee. A qualifying employee selected by the
Committee to participate in the Plan shall be a “Participant” in the Plan.

Section 4. Award Criteria.

The Committee may grant performance-based awards (“Awards™) to Participants with respect to any performance period (each, a “Performance Period™), subject to
the terms and conditions of the Plan. All Awards shall be settled in cash. Performance Periods may be equal to or longer than, but not less than, one fiscal year of the
Company and may be overlapping. Within 90




days after the beginning of a Performance Period, and in any case before 25% of the Performance Period has elapsed, the Committee shall establish (a) performance goals
and objectives (“Performance Targets”) for the Company for such Performance Period, (b) target awards (“Target Awards”) for each Participant which shall be a
specified dollar amount, and (c) schedules or other objective methods for determining the applicable performance percentage (“Performance Percentage”) to be applied to
each Target Award to which a Performance Target relates in arriving at the actual Award payout amount (“Performance Schedules™).

Section 5. Performance Targets.

The Committee shall establish Performance Targets for each Performance Period. Such Performance Targets shall be based on one or more of the following business
criteria: revenue growth, operating income, operating cash flow, net income, earnings per share, return on sales, return on assets, return on equity, return on invested capital
and total shareholder return.

The measurement of any Performance Targets may exclude the impact of charges for extraordinary, unusual or non-recurring items (including without limitation
charges for restructurings and discontinued operations), and the cumulative effects of accounting changes, each as defined by generally accepted accounting principles and
as identified in the Company’s audited financial statements, including the notes thereto, Any Performance Targets may be used to measure the performance of Department
56 or a subsidiary of Department 56 as a whole or any business unit of Department 56 or any subsidiary or any combination thereof, as the Committee may deem
appropriate, or any of the above Performance Targets as compared to the performance of a group of comparator companies, or a published or special index that the
Committee, in its sole discretion, deems appropriate.

Section 6. Awards.

(a) Calculation. In the manner required by Section 162(m) of the Code, the Committee shall, promptly after the date on which the necessary financial and other
information for a particular Performance Period becomes available, certify the extent to which Performance Targets have been achieved. Using the Performance Schedule,
the Committee shall determine the Performance Percentage applicable to each Performance Target and multiply the portion of the Target Award to which the Performance
Target relates by such Performance Percentage in order to arrive at the actual Award payout for such portion.

(b) Discretionary Reduction. The Committee may, in its discretion, reduce or eliminate the amount of any Award payable to any Participant, based on such
factors as the Committee may deem relevant, but the Committee may not increase the amount of any Award payable to any Participant above the amount established in
accordance with the relevant Performance Targets. For purposes of clarity, the Committee may exercise the discretion provided for by the foregoing sentence in a non-
uniform manner among Participants.

(¢) Limitation. The amount paid under the Plan to any Participant with respect to any Award for a Performance Period of one year shall not exceed one million
five hundred thousand dollars ($1,500,000). The amount paid under the Plan to any Participant with respect to any Award for a Performance Period of more than one year
shall not exceed three million dotlars ($3 million).




No Participant shall be eligible to eam Awards for more than three Performance Periods that end within any single fiscal year of the Company.

(d) Payment. The Company shall pay Awards as soon as administratively practical following certification by the Committee of the extent to which the
applicable Performance Targets have been achieved and the determination of the actual Awards in accordance with Section 5 and this Section 6.

Section 7. General Provisions.

(a) No Rights to Awards or Continued Employment. No employee of the Company shall have any claim or right to receive Awards under the Plan. Neither
the Plan nor any action taken under the Plan shall be construed as giving any employee any right to be retained by the Company.

(b) No Limits on Other Awards and Plans. Nothing contained in this Plan shall prohibit the Company from establishing other special awards or incentive
compensation plans providing for the payment of incentive compensation to employees of the Company, including any Participants.

(¢) Withholding Taxes. The Company shall deduct from all payments and distributions under the Plan any required federal, state or local governments tax
withholdings.

(d) Unfunded Status of Plan, The Company shall not have any obligation to establish any separate fund or trust or other segregation of assets to provide for
payments under the Plan. To the extent any person acquires any rights to receive payments hereunder from the Company, such rights shall be no greater than those of an
unsecured creditor.

(¢e) Effective Date; Amendment. The Plan is effective as of February 18, 2004, subject to approval by the shareholders of Department 56 at its 2004 annual
meeting of shareholders. The Committee may at any time and from time to time alter, amend, suspend or terminate the Plan in whole or in part.

(f) Governing Law. The Plan and the rights of all persons under the Plan shall be construed and administered in accordance with the laws of the State of New
York without regard to its conflict of law principles.

(g) Interpretation. The Plan is designed and intended to comply with Section 162(m) of the Code and all provisions hereof shall be construed in a manner so to
comply.




Exhibit 10.11
DEPARTMENT 56, INC.

2004 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN
(As Adopted February 18, 2004)

1. Purpose of the Plan

This Department 56, Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan is intended to promote the interests of the Company and its shareholders by providing the employees and
consultants of the Company and eligible non-employee directors of Department 56, Inc., who are largely responsible for the management, growth and protection of the
business of the Company, with incentives and rewards to encourage them to continue in the service of the Company. The Plan is designed to meet this intent by providing
such employees, consultants and eligible non-employee directors with a proprietary interest in pursuing the long-term growth, profitability and financial success of the
Company.

2. Definitions
As used in the Plan, the following deffmitions apply to the terms indicated below:
(a) “Board.of Directors” means the Board of Directors of Department 56, Inc.
(b) “Change in Control” means the occurrence of any of the following:

(i) Any Person becoming the beneficial owner (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act, a “Beneficial Owner™) of fifty-one percent
(51%) or more of the combined voting power of Department 56°s then outstanding voting securities (“Voting Securities™); provided, howeyer that a Change in Control shall
not be deemed to occur by reason of an acquisition of Voting Securities directly from Department 56 or by (i) an employee benefit plan (or a trust forming a part thereof)
maintained by (A) Department 56 or any Person of which a majority of its voting power or its voting equity securities or equity interest is owned, directly or indirectly, by
Department 56 (the “D56 Group™), (B) any member of the D56 Group, or (C) any Person in connection with a Non-Control Transaction (as such term is hereinafter
defined),

(i) The individuals who, as of February 18, 2004, are members of the Board of Directors (the “Incumbent Board™), cease for any reason to constitute at least two-
thirds of the members of the Board of Directors; provided, however that if the election, or nomination for election by Department 56‘s common stockholders, of any new
director was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds of the Incumbent Board, such new director shall, for purposes of the Plan, be considered as a member of the Incumbent
Board; provided, further, however, that no individual shall be considered a member of the Incumbent Board if such individual initially assumed office as a result of an actual
or threatened solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of a Person other than the Board (a “Proxy Contest”) including by reason of any agreement intended to avoid
or settle any Election Contest or Proxy Contest; or




(iii) The consummation of:

(A) A merger, consolidation or reorganization with or into Department 56 or in which securities of Department 56 are issued, unless such merger,
consolidation or reorganization is a “Non-Control Transaction.” A “Non-Control Transaction” is a merger, consolidation or reorganization with or into Department 56 or in
which securities of Department 56 are issued where:

(I)  the stockholders of Department 56, immediately before such merger, consolidation or reorganization, own, directly or indirectly immediately
following such merger, consolidation or reorganization, at least sixty percent (60%) of the combined voting power of the outstanding voting securities of the corporation
resulting from such merger or consolidation or reorganization (the “Surviving Corporation”) in substantially the same proportion as their ownership of the Voting
Securities immediately before such merger, consolidation or reorganization,

(10))] the individuals who were members of the Incumbent Board immediately prior to the execution of the agreement providing for such merger,
consolidation or reorganization constitute at least two-thirds of the members of the board of directors of the Surviving Corporation, or a corporation beneficially owning
a majority of the voting securities of the Surviving Corporation,

(1 no Person other than (1) any member of the D56 Group, (2) any employee benefit plan (or any trust forming a part thereof) maintained
immediately prior to such merger, consolidation or reorganization by any member of the D56 Group, or (3) any Person who, immediately prior to such merger,
consolidation or reorganization Beneficially Owns fifty-one percent (51%) or more of the then outstanding Voting Securities, owns, directly or indirectly, fifty-one
percent (51%) or more of the combined voting power of the Surviving Corporation’s voting securities outstanding immediately following such transaction;,

(B) ~ A complete quuid:étion or dissolution of the Company; or

(C)  The sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company to any Person {other than a member of the D56 Group).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Change in Contro! shall not be deemed to occur solely because any Person (the “Subject Person™) becomes the Beneficial
Owner of more than the permitted amount of the outstanding Voting Securities as a result of the acquisition of Voting Securities by the Company which, by reducing the
number of Voting Securities outstanding, increases the proportional number of shares Beneficially Owned by the Subject Persons, provided that if a Change in Control
would occur (but for the operation of this sentence) as a result of the acquisition of Voting Securities by the Company, and after such share acquisition by the Company, the
Subject Person becomes the Beneficial Owner of any additional Voting Securities whlch increases the percentage of the then outstanding Voting Securities Beneficially
Owned by the Subject Person, then a Change in Control shall occur.




(c) “Code” means the Intemal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.

(d) “Committee” means the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors or such other committee as the Board of Directors shall appoint from time to time
to administer the Plan and to otherwise exercise and perform the authority and functions assigned to the Committee under the terms of the Plan.

(e) “Common Stock” means Department 56‘s Common Stock, $.01 par value per share, or any other security into which the common stock shall be changed
pursuant to the adjustment provisions of Section 10 of the Plan.

(H  “Company” means Department 56 and each of its Subsidiaries, collectively.

(g “Covered Employee” means a Participant who at the time of reference is a “covered employee” as defined in Code Section 162(m) and the regulations
promulgated under Code Section 162(m), or any successor statute.

(h)  “Director” means a member of the Board of Directors who is not at the time of reference an employee of the Company.
(i)  “Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

[0)] “Fair Market Value” means, with respect to a share of Common Stock, as of the applicable date of determination (i) the average of the high and low sales prices
on the immediately preceding business day of a share of Common Stock as reported on the principal securities exchange on which shares of Common Stock are then listed
or admitted to trading or (ii) if not so reported, the average of the closing bid and ask prices on the immediately preceding business day as reported on the National
Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation System or (iii) if not so reported, as furnished by any member of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc,
selected by the Committee. In the event that the price of a share of Common Stock shall not be so reported, the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock shall be
determined by the Committee in its absolute discretion.

(k)  “Incentive Award™ means an Option, SAR or Other Stock-Based Award granted to a Participant pursuant to the terms of the Plan.
) “Option” means a non-qualified stock option to purchase shares of Common Stock granted to a Participant pursuant to Section 6.
(m) “Other Stock-Base Award™ means an equity or equity-related award granted to a Participant pursuant to Section 8.

(n) “Participant” means a Director, employee or consuitant of the Company who is eligible to participate in the Plan and to whom one or more Incentive Awards
have been granted pursuant to the Plan and, following the death of any such employee, his successors, heirs, executors and administrators, as the case may be.




{0)  “Performance-Based Compensation” means compensation that satisfies the requirements of Section 162(m) of the Code for deductibility of remuneration paid
to Covered Employees.

(p) “Performance Measures” means such measures as are described in Section 9 on which performance goals are based in order to qualify certain awards granted
hereunder as Performance-Based Compensation.

(@)  “Performance Period” means the period of time during which the performance goals must be met in order to determine the degree of payout and/or vesting with
respect to an Incentive Award that is intended to qualify as Performance-Based Compensation.

1) “Permitted Acceleration Event” means (i) with respect to any Incentive Award that is subject to performance-based vesting, the full or partial vesting of such
Incentive Award based on satisfaction of the applicable performance-based conditions, (ii) the occurrence of a Change in Control or an event described in Section 10(b), (c)
or (d) or (iii) any termination of the employment of a Participant, other than a termination for cause (as defined by the Committee) or voluntary termination prior to
retirement (as defined by the Committee).

(s) “Person” means a “person” as such term is used in Section 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act.
) “Plan” means this Department 56, Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, as it may be amended from time to time,

(u) “Prior Pians” mean the Department 56, Inc. 1995 Stock Incentive Plan, Department 56, Inc. 1997 Stock Incentive Plan and the Department 56, Inc. 2001 Non-
Officer Stock Option Plan. -

V) “SAR” means a é{ock appreciation right granted to a Participant pursuant to Section 7.

(w) “Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

(x) “Department 56™ means Department 56, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and any successor thereto.
o) “Subsidiary” means any “subsidiary corporation” within the meaning of Section 424(f) of the Code.

3. Stock Subject to the Plan

(a) In General

Subject to adjustment as provided in Section 10 and the following provisions of this Section 3, the maximum number of shares of Common Stock that may be covered
by Incentive Awards granted under the Plan shall not exceed the sum of (A) 1,000,000 shares of Common




Stock, (B) shares of Common Stock available to be issued under the Prior Plans on the date hereof and (C) any shares of Common Stock subject to an outstanding Option or
Award (as such terms are defined in the Prior Plans) under the Prior Plans on the date hereof that, after the date hereof, would have become available under the Prior Plans
pursuant to Section 4.3 of any of the Prior Plans had the Prior Plans not been succeeded by the Plan. Shares of Common Stock issued under the Plan may be either
authorized and unissued shares or treasury shares, or both, at the discretion of the Committee.

For purposes of the preceding paragraph, shares of Common Stock covered by Incentive Awards shall only be counted as used to the extent they are actually issued and
delivered to a Participant (or such Participant’s permitted transferees as described in the Plan) pursuant to the Plan. For purposes of clarification, in accordance with the
preceding sentence if an Incentive Award is settled for cash or if shares of Common Stock are withheld to pay the exercise price of an Option or to satisfy any tax
withholding requirement in connection with an Incentive Award only the shares issued (if any), net of the shares withheld, will be deemed delivered for purposes of
determining the number of shares of Common Stock that are available for delivery under the Plan. In addition, if shares of Common Stock are issued subject to conditions
which may result in the forfeiture, cancellation or retum of such shares to the Company, any portion of the shares forfeited, cancelled or returned shall be treated as not
issued pursuant to the Plan. In addition, if shares of Common Stock owned by a Participant (or such Participant’s permitted transferees as described in the Plan) are tendered
(either actually or through attestation) to the Company in payment of any obligation in connection with an Incentive Award, the number of shares tendered shall be added to
the number of shares of Common Stock that are available for delivery under the Plan. In addition, if the Company uses cash received by the Company in payment of the
exercise price or purchase price in connection with any Incentive Award granted pursuant to the Plan to repurchase shares of Common Stock from any Person, the shares so
repurchased will be added to the aggregate number of shares available for delivery under the Plan. For purposes of the preceding sentence, shares of Common Stock
tepurchased by the Company shall be deemed to have been repurchased using such funds only to the extent that such funds have actually been previously received by the
Company and that the Company promptly designates in its books and records that such repurchase was paid for with such funds. Shares of Common Stock covered by
Incentive Awards granted pursuant to the Plan in connection with the assumption, replacement, conversion or adjustment of outstanding equity-based awards in the context
of a corporate acquisition or merger (within the meaning of Section 303A.08 of the New York Stock Exchange Listed Company Manual) shall not count as used under the
Plan for purposes of this Section 3.

Subject to adjustment as provided in Section 10, the maximum number of shares of Common Stock that may be covered by Incentive Awards granted under the Plan to
any single Participant in any fiscal year of the Company shall not exceed 300,000 shares, prorated on a daily basis for any fiscal year of the Company that is shorter than 365
days.

®) Prohibition on Substitutions and Repricings

In no event shall any new Incentive Awards be issued in substitution for outstanding Incentive Awards previously granted to Participants, nor shall any repricing
(within the meaning




of US generally accepted accounting practices or any applicable stock exchange rule) of Incentive Awards issued under the Plan be permitted at any time under any
circumstances, in each case unless the shareholders of the Company expressly approve such substitution or repricing.

4. Administration of the Plan

The Plan shall be administered by a Committee of the Board of Directors consisting of two or more persons, at least two of whom qualify as non-employee directors
(within the meaning of Rule 16b-3 promulgated under Section 16 of the Exchange Act), and as “outside directors” within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section
1.162-27(e)(3). The Committee shall, consistent with the terms of the Plan, from time to time designate those who shall be granted Incentive Awards under the Plan and the
amount, type and other terms and conditions of such Incentive Awards. All of the powers and responsibilities of the Committee under the Plan may be delegated by the
Committee, in writing, to any subcommittee thereof. In addition, the Committee may from time to time authorize a committee consisting of one or more Directors to grant
Incentive Awards to persons who are not “executive officers” of Department 56 (within the meaning of Rule 16a-1 under the Exchange Act), subject to such restrictions and
limitation as the Committee may specify. In addition, the Board of Directors may, consistent with the terms of the Plan, from time to time grant Incentive Awards to
Directors.

The Committee shall have full discretionary authority to administer the Plan, including discretionary authority to interpret and construe any and all provisions of the
Plan and the terms of any Incentive Award (and any agreement evidencing any Incentive Award) granted thereunder and to adopt and amend from time to time such rules
and regulations for the administration of the Plan as the Committee may deem necessary or appropriate. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, (i) the Committee
shall determine whether an authorized leave of absence, or absence in military or government service, shall constitute termination of employment and (ii) the employment of
a Participant with the Company shall be deemed to have terminated for all purposes of the Plan if such person is employed by or provides services to a Person thatis a
Subsidiary of the Company and such Person ceases to be a Subsidiary of the Company, unless the Committee determines otherwise. Decisions of the Committee shall be
final, binding and conclusive on all parties.

On or after the date of grant of an Incentive Award under the Plan, the Committee may (i) accelerate the date on which any such Incentive Award becomes vested,
exercisable or transferable, as the case may be, (ii) extend the term of any such Incentive Award, including, without limitation, extending the period following a termination
of a Participant’s employment during which any such Incentive Award may remain outstanding, (iii) waive any conditions to the vesting, exercisability or transferability, as
the case may be, of any such Incentive Award or (iv) provide for the payment of dividends or dividend equivalents with respect to any such Incentive Award.

No member of the Committee shall be liable for any action, omission, or determination relating to the Plan, and Department 56 shall indemnify and hold harmless each
member of the




Committee and each other director or employee of the Company to whom any duty or power relating to the administration or interpretation of the Plan has been delegated
against any cost or expense (including counsel fees) or liability (including any sum paid in settlement of a claim with the approval of the Committee) arising out of any
action, omission or determination relating to the Plan, unless, in either case, such action, omission or determination was taken or made by such member, director or
employee in bad faith and without reasonable belief that it was in the best interests of the Company.

5. Eligibility

The Persons who shall be eligible to receive Incentive Awards pursuant to the Plan shall be those Directors, consultants and employees of the Company whom the
Committee shall select from time to time, including those key employees (including officers of Department 56, whether or not they are directors of Department 56) who are
largely responsible for the management, growth and protection of the business of the Company. All Incentive Awards granted under the Plan shall be evidenced by a
separate written agreement entered into by the Company and the recipient of such Incentive Award.

6. Options
The Committee may from time to time grant Options, subject to the following terms and conditions:
(a) cise

The exercise price per share of Common Stock covered by any Option shall be not less than 100% of the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the date on
which such Option is granted. -

®) Term and Exerci-s.e of Options

[¢)) Each Option shall become vested and exercisable on such date or dates, during such period and for such number of shares of Common Stock as shall be
determined by the Committee on or after the date such Option is granted, provided, however that no Option shall be exercisable after the expiration of ten years from the
date such Option is granted; provided, further that no Option shall become exercisable earlier than one year after the date on which it is granted, other than upon the
occurrence of a Permitted Acceleration Event, and, provided, further, that each Option shall be subject to earlier termination, expiration or cancellation as provided in the
Plan or in the agreement evidencing such Option,

) Each Option may be exercised in whole or in part; provided, however that no partial exercise of an Option shall be for an aggregate exercise price of less than
$1,000. The partial exercise of an Option shall not cause the expiration, termination or cancellation of the remaining portion thereof.




3) An Option shall be exercised by such methods and procedures as the Committee determines from time to time, including without limitation through net
physical settlement or other method of cashless exercise,

4) Options may not be sold, pledged, assigned, hypothecated, transferred, or disposed of in any manner other than by will or by the laws of descent or distribution
and may be exercised, during the lifetime of a Participant, only by the Participant; provided, however that the Committee may permit Options to be sold, sold, pledged,
assigned, hypothecated, transferred, or disposed of, on a general or specific basis, subject to such conditions and limitations as the Committee may determine.

(c) Effect of Termination of Employment or other Relationship

The agreement evidencing the award of each Option shall specify the consequences with respect to such Option of the termination of the employment, service as a
director or other relationship between the Company and the Participant holding the Option.

(d) Eff hange in Control

Upon the occurrence of a Change in Control, each Option outstanding at such time shall become fully and immediately vested and exercisable and shall remain
exercisable until its expiration, termination or cancellation pursuant to the terms of the Plan and the agreement evidencing such Option.

7. Stock Appreciation Rights
The Committe may from time to time grant SARs, subject to the following terms and conditions:

(a) Stand-Alone and Tandem; Cash and Stock-Settled

SARs may be granted on a stand-alone basis or in tandem with an Option. Tandem SARs may be granted contemporaneously with or after the grant of the Options to
which they relate. SARs may be settled in shares of Common Stock or in cash.

(b)  Exercise Price

The exercise price per share of Common Stock covered by any SAR shall be not less than 100% of the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the date on
which such SAR is granted; provided, however that the exercise price of an SAR that is tandem to an Option and that is granted after the grant of such Option may have an
exercise price less than 100% of the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the date on which such SAR is granted provided that such exercise price is at least
equal to the exercise price of the related Option.




(<) Benefit Upon Exercise

The exercise of an SAR with respect to any number of shares of Common Stock prior to the occurrence of a Change in Control shal! entitle the Participant to (i) a cash
payment, for each such share, equal to the excess of (A) the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the effective date of such exercise over (B) the per share
exercise price of the SAR, (ii) the issuance or transfer to the Participant of the greatest number of whole shares of Common Stock which on the date of the exercise of the
SAR have an aggregate Fair Market Value equal to such excess or (iii) a combination of cash and shares of Common Stock in amounts equal to such excess, as determined
by the Committee. The exercise of an SAR with respect to any number of shares of Common Stock upon or after the occurrence of a Change in Control shall entitle the
Participant to a cash payment, for each such share, equal to the excess of (i) the greater of (A) the highest price per share of Common Stock paid in connection with such
Change in Control and (B) the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the effective date of exercise over (ii) the per share exercise price of the SAR. Such
payment, transfer or issuance shall occur as soon as practical, but in no event later than five business days, after the effective date of exercise.

) Term and Exercise of SARs

n Each SAR shall become vested and exercisable on such date or dates, during such period and for such number of shares of Common Stock as shall be
determined by the Committee on or after the date such SAR is granted; provided, however that no SAR shall be exercisable after the expiration of ten years from the date
such Option is granted; provided, further that no SAR shall become exercisable earlier than one year after the date on which it is granted, other than upon the occurrence of a
Permitted Acceleration Event; and, provided, further, that each SAR shall be subject to earlier termination, expiration or cancellation as provided in the Plan or in the
agreement evidencing such Option.

2) Each SAR may, to the extent vested and exercisable, be exercised in whole or in part; provided, however that no partial exercise of an SAR shall be for an
aggregate exercise price of less than $1,000. The partial exercise of an SAR shall not cause the expiration, termination or cancellation of the remaining portion thereof.

3) An SAR shall be exercised by such methods and procedures as the Committee determines from time to time,

) SARs may not be sold, pledged, assigned, hypothecated, transferred, or disposed of in any manner other than by will or by the laws of descent or distribution
and may be exercised, during the lifetime of a Participant, only by the Participant; provided, however that the Committee may permit SARs to be sold, sold, pledged,
assigned, hypothecated, transferred, or disposed of, on a general or specific basis, subject to such conditions and limitations as the Committee may determine.

(5)  The exercise with respect to a number of shares of Common Stock of an SAR granted in tandem with an Option shall cause the immediate cancellation of the
Option with respect to the same number of shares. The exercise with respect to a number of shares of




Common Stock of an Option to which a tandem SAR relates shall cause the immediate cancellation of the SAR with respect to an equal number of shares.
(e) Effect of Termination of Employment or other Relationship

The agreement evidencing the award of each SAR shall specify the consequences with respect to such SAR of the termination of the employment, service as a director
or other relationship between the Company and Participant holding the SAR.

f) Effect of Change in Control

Upon the occurrence of a Change in Control, each SAR outstanding at such time shall become fully and immediately vested and exercisable and shall remain
exercisable until its expiration, termination or cancellation pursuant to the terms of the Plan and the agreement evidencing such SAR.

8. her Stock- ard;

The Committee may grant equity-based or equity-related awards not otherwise described herein in such amounts and subject to such terms and conditions as the
Committee shall determine. Without limiting the generality of the preceding sentence, each such Other Stock-Based Award may (i) involve the transfer of actual shares of
Common Stock to Participants, either at the time of grant or thereafler, or payment in cash or otherwise of amounts based on the value of shares of Commeon Stock, (ii) be
subject to performance-based and/or service-based conditions, (iii) be in the form of phantom stock, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance shares, or share-
denominated performance units and (iv) be designed to comply with applicable laws of jurisdictions other than the United States. Notwithstanding anything in this Section
8, no Other Stock-Based Award shall vest'or otherwise become payable earlier than three years following the date on which it is granted, other than upon the occurrence of a
Permitted Acceleration Event. _

9.  Performance Measures
(a) Performance Measures

The performance goals upon which the payment or vesting of any Incentive Award (other than Options and SARs) to a Covered Employee that is intended to qualify as
Performance-Based Compensation depends shall relate to one or more of the following Performance Measures: revenue growth, operating income, operating cash flow, net
income, earnings per share, return on sales, return on assets, return on equity, return on invested capital and total shareholder return.

Performance Periods may be equal to or longer than, but not less than, one fiscal year of the Company and may be overlapping. Within 90 days after the beginning of a
Performance Period, and in any case before 25% of the Performance Period has elapsed, the Committee shall establish (a) performance goals and objectives for the
Company for such Performance Period,




(b) target awards for each Participant, and (c) schedules or other objective methods for determining the applicable performance percentage to be applied to each such target
award.

The measurement of any Performance Measure(s) may exclude the impact of charges for restructurings, discontinued operations, extraordinary items, and other unusual
or non-recurring items, and the cumulative effects of accounting changes, each as defined by generally accepted accounting principles and as identified in the Company’s
audited financial statements, including the notes thereto. Any Performance Measure(s) may be used to measure the performance of the Company or a Subsidiary as a whole
or any business unit of the Company or any Subsidiary or any combination thereof, as the Committee may deem appropriate, or any of the above Performance Measures as
compared to the performance of a group of comparator companies, or a published or special index that the Committee, in its sole discretion, deems appropriate.

Nothing in this Section 9 is intended to limit the Committee’s discretion to adopt conditions with respect to any Incentive Award that is not intended to qualify as
Performance-Based Compensation that relate to performance other than the Performance Measures. In addition, the Committee may, subject to the terms of the Plan, amend
previously granted Incentive Awards in a way that disqualifies them as Performance-Based Compensation.

(b) Committee Discretion

In the event that the requirements of Section 162(m) and the regulations thereunder change to permit Committee discretion to alter the Performance Measures without
obtaining shareholder approval of such changes, the Committee shall have sole discretion to make such changes without obtaining shareholder approval,

ment n Changes in Common St
(a) Shares Available for Grants

In the event of any change in the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding by reason of any stock dividend or split, recapitalization, merger, consolidation,
combination or exchange of shares or similar corporate change, the maximum aggregate number of shares of Common Stock with respect to which the Committee may
grant Incentive Awards and the maximum aggregate number of shares of Common Stock with respect to which the Committee may grant Incentive Awards to any
individual Participant in any year shall be appropriately adjusted by the Committee. In the event of any change in the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding by
reason of any other similar event or transaction, the Committee may, but need not, make such adjustments in the number and class of shares of Common Stock with respect
to which Incentive Awards may be granted as the Committee may deem appropriate.

(b) i1 r Decr ) I i nsiderati

Subject to any required action by the shareholders of Department 56, in the event of any increase or decrease in the number of issued shares of Common Stock resulting
from a subdivision or consolidation of shares of Common Stock or the payment of a stock dividend (but




only on the shares of Common Stock), or any other increase or decrease in the number of such shares effected without receipt or payment of consideration by the Company,
the Committee shall proportionally adjust the number of shares of Common Stock subject to each outstanding Incentive Award and the exercise price per share of Common
Stock of each such Incentive Award.

(c) ertain Mer

Subject to any required action by the shareholders of Department 56, in the event that Department 56 shall be the surviving corporation in any merger or consolidation
(except a merger or consolidation as a result of which the holders of shares of Common Stock receive securities of another corporation), each Incentive Award outstanding
on the date of such merger or consolidation shall pertain to and apply to the securities which a holder of the number of shares of Common Stock subject to such Incentive
Award would have received in such merger or consolidation.

(d) Certain Other Transactions

In the event of (i) a dissolution or liquidation of Department 56, (ii) a sale of all or substantially all of Department 56°s assets, (iii) a merger or consolidation involving
Department 56 in which Department 56 is not the surviving corporation or (iv) a merger or consolidation involving Department 56 in which Department 56 is the surviving
corporation but the holders of shares of Common Stock receive securities of another corporation and/or other property, including cash, the Committee shall, in its absolute
discretion, have the power to:

@) cancel, effective immediately prior to the occurrence of such event, each Incentive Award (whether or not then exercisable), and, in full consideration of
such cancellation, pay to the Participant to whom such Incentive Award was granted an amount in cash, for each share of Common Stock subject to such Incentive
Award equal to the value, as determined by the Committee in its reasonable discretion, of such Incentive Award, provided that with respect to any outstanding Option or
SAR such value shall be equal to the excess of (A) the value, as determined by the Committee in its reasonable discretion, of the property (including cash) received by
the holder of a share of Common Stock as a result of such event over (B) the exercise price of such Option or SAR; or

(ii) provide for the exchange of each Incentive Award (whether or not then exercisable or vested) for an incentive award with respect to, as appropriate,
some or all of the property which a holder of the number of shares of Common Stock subject to such Incentive Award would have received in such transaction and,
incident thereto, make an equitable adjustment as determined by the Committee in its reasonable discretion in the exercise price of the incentive award, or the number of
shares or amount of property subject to the incentive award or, if appropriate, provide for a cash payment to the Participant to whom such Incentive Award was granted
in partial consideration for the exchange of the Incentive Award.




(e) Other Changes

In the event of any change in the capitalization of Department 56 or corporate change other than those specifically referred to in paragraphs (b), (c) or (d), the
Committee may, in its absolute discretion, make such adjustments in the number and class of shares subject to Incentive Awards outstanding on the date on which such
change occurs and in such other terms of such Incentive Awards as the Committee may consider appropriate to prevent dilution or enlargement of rights.

® No Other Rights

Except as expressly provided in the Plan, no Participant shall have any rights by reason of any subdivision or consolidation of shares of stock of any class, the payment
of any dividend, any increase or decrease in the number of shares of stock of any class or any dissolution, liquidation, merger or consolidation of Department 56 or any other
corporation. Except as expressly provided in the Plan, no issuance by Department 56 of shares of stock of any class, or securities convertible into shares of stock of any
class, shall affect, and no adjustment by reason thereof shall be made with respect to, the number of shares of Common Stock subject to any Incentive Award.

11. Rights as a Stockholder

No person shall have any rights as a stockholder with respect to any shares of Common Stock covered by or relating to any Incentive Award granted pursuant to the
Plan until the date of the issuance of a stock certificate with respect to such shares. Except as otherwise expressly provided in Section 10 hereof, no adjustment of any
Incentive Award shall be made for dividends or other rights for which the record date occurs prior to the date such stock certificate is issued.

12. No Special Employment Rights; No Right to Incentive Award

(a) Nothing contained in the Plan or any Incentive Award shall confer upon any Participant any right with respect to the continuation of his employment by or
service to the Company or interfere in any way with the right of the Company at any time to terminate such employment or to increase or decrease the compensation of the
Participant from the rate in existence at the time of the grant of an Incentive Award.

(b) No person shall have any claim or right to receive an Incentive Award hereunder. The Committee’s granting of an Incentive Award to a Participant at any time
shall neither require the Committee to grant an Incentive Award to such Participant or any other Participant or other person at any time nor preclude the Committee from
making subsequent grants to such Participant or any other Participant or other person.

13. Securities Matters

(a) Department 56 shall be under no obligation to effect the registration pursuant to the Securities Act of any shares of Common Stock to be issued hereunder or to
effect similar




compliance under any state laws. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Department 56 shall not be obligated to cause to be issued or delivered any certificates
evidencing shares of Common Stock pursuant to the Plan unless and until Department 56 is advised by its counsel that the issuance and delivery of such certificates is in
compliance with all applicable iaws, regulations of governmental authority and the requirements of any securities exchange on which shares of Common Stock are traded,
The Committee may require, as a condition to the issuance and delivery of certificates evidencing shares of Common Stock pursuant to the terms hereof, that the recipient of
such shares make such covenants, agreements and representations, and that such certificates bear such legends, as the Committee deems necessary or desirable.

(b) The exercise of any Option granted hereunder shall only be effective at such time as counsel to Department 56 shall have determined that the issuance and
delivery of shares of Common Stock pursuant to such exercise is in compliance with all applicable laws, regulations of governmental authority and the requirements of any
securities exchange on which shares of Common Stock are traded. Department 56 may, in its sole discretion, defer the effectiveness of an exercise of an Option hereunder or
the issuance or transfer of shares of Common Stock pursuant to any Incentive Award pending or to ensure compliance under federal or state securities laws. Department 56
shall inform the Participant in writing of its decision to defer the effectiveness of the exercise of an Option or the issuance or transfer of shares of Common Stock pursuant
to any Incentive Award. During the period that the effectiveness of the exercise of an Option has been deferred, the Participant may, by written notice, withdraw such
exercise and obtain the refund of any amount paid with respect thereto.

14, Withholding Taxes
(a) Cash Remittance

Whenever shares of Common Stock are to be issued upon the exercise of an Option or the grant or vesting of an Incentive Award, Department 56 shall have the right to
require the Participant to remit to Department 56 in cash an amount sufficient to satisfy federal, state and local withholding tax requirements, if any, attributable to such
exercise, grant or vesting prior to the delivery of any certificate or certificates for such shares or the effectiveness of the lapse of such restrictions. In addition, upon the
exercise or settlement of any Incentive Award in cash, Department 56 shall have the right to withhold from any cash payment required to be made pursuant thereto an
amount sufficient to satisfy the federal, state and local withholding tax requirements, if any, attributable to such exercise or settiement.

{b) Stock Remittance

At the election of the Participant, subject to the approval of the Committee, when shares of Common Stock are to be issued upon the exercise, grant or vesting of an
Incentive Award, the Participant may tender to Department 56 a number of shares of Common Stock that have been owned by the Participant for at least six months (or such
other period as the Committee may determine) having a Fair Market Value at the tender date determined by the Committee to be sufficient to satisfy the federal, state and
local withholding tax requirements, if any, attributable




to such exercise, grant or vesting but not greater than such withholding obligations. Such election shall satisfy the Participant’s obligations under Section 14(a) hereof, if
any.

(c) Stock Withholding

At the election of the Participant, subject to the approval of the Committee, when shares of Common Stock are to be issued upon the exercise, grant or vesting of an
Incentive Award, Department 56 shall withhold a number of such shares having a Fair Market Value at the exercise date determined by the Committee to be sufficient to
satisfy the federal, state and local withholding tax requirements, if any, attributable to such exercise, grant or vesting but not greater than such withholding obligations. Such
election shall satisty the Participant’s obligations under Section 14(a) hereof, if any.

15. Amendment or Termination of the Plan

The Board of Directors may at any time suspend or discontinue the Plan or revise or amend it in any respect whatsoever; proyided, however, that without approval of
the shareholders no revision or amendment shall except as provided in Section 10 hereof, (i) increase the number of shares of Common Stock that may be issued under the
Plan or (ii) materially modify the requirements as to eligibility for participation in the Plan. Nothing herein shall restrict the Committee’s ability to exercise its discretionary
authority hereunder pursuant to Section 4 hereof, which discretion may be exercised without amendment to the Plan. No action hereunder may, without the consent of a
Participant, reduce the Participant’s rights under any previously granted and outstanding Incentive Award. Nothing herein shall limit the right of the Company to pay
compensation of any kind outside the terms of the Plan.

16. No Obligation to Exercise
The grant to a Panicipani.of an Option or SAR shall impose no obligation upon such Participant to exercise such Option or SAR.
17. Transfers Upon Death

Upon the death of a Participant, outstanding Incentive Awards granted to such Participant may be exercised only by the executors or administrators of the Participant’s
estate or by any person or persons who shall have acquired such right to exercise by will or by the laws of descent and distribution. No transfer by will or the laws of descent
and distribution of any Incentive Award, or the right to exercise any Incentive Award, shall be effective to bind Department 56 unless the Committee shall have been
furnished with (a) written notice thereof and with a copy of the will and/or such evidence as the Committee may deem necessary to establish the validity of the transfer and
(b) an agreement by the transferee to comply with all the terms and conditions of the Incentive Award that are or would have been applicable to the Participant and to be
bound by the acknowledgements made by the Participant in connection with the grant of the Incentive Award.




18. Expenses and Receipts

The expenses of the Plan shall be paid by Department 56. Any proceeds received by Department 56 in connection with any Incentive Award will be used for general
corparate purposes.

19. Goveming Law

The Plan and the rights of all persons under the Plan shall be construed and administered in accordance with the laws of the State of New York without regard to its
conflict of law principles.

20. Effective Date and Term of Plan

The Plan was adopted by the Board of Directors on February 18, 2004, subject to the approval of the Plan by the shareholders of Department 56. No grants may be
made under the Plan after February 18, 2014.




Exhibit 10.18

[LOGO]
December 15, 2003

Mr. David W. Dewey
{address redacted}
{address redacted}

Dear David,
This letter confirms our agreement conceming your decision to resign employment at the end of March and to then begin working with us as an independent consultant.

Position You have decided that you would like to continue in your current position as an employee and officer until Saturday, April 3, 2004. You have tendered,
Status: and 1 have accepted, your resignation effective that date from all positions (including subsidiary directorships) with Department 56, Inc. and its direct and
indirect subsidiaries (collectively, “D56").

Beginning Sunday, April 4, 2004, D56 will engage you, and you have committed to serve, as an independent consultant. This engagement is intended to
continue from that date through March 31, 2005 (the “Consulting Period”), and the Consulting Period may be extended past that time by mutual agreement.

Compensation: Your salary as an employee will continue at the current annual rate of $368,000 until the effective date of your resignation.

In consideration for your services during the Consulting Period and the non-competition covenants contained in this letter agreement, D56 will pay youa
regular fee of $20,833.33 per month during each month of the Consulting Period and you will be eligible for the cash incentive payments described below.

Cash Incentives: You will be eligible to receive a bonus based on overall corporate performance in 2004, This “Corporate Performance Bonus” will be calculated ina
manner consistent with the 2004 defined bonus program for Department 56, Inc. officers and is illustrated on the attached spreadsheet. The final bonus
program structure and EPS budget target are subject to the approval of the Board of Directors, and actual payout amounts will not be determined and paid
until closure and Board acceptance of the 2004 fuil-year audited financials.

You will also be eligible to receive two “Gifiware Performance Bonuses”, the structure of each of which is set out and illustrated on the attached
spreadsheets.

Benefits: Your employee benefits will cease upon the effective date of your resignation. At your own expense you could then continue health and certain other
insurances per our then-current COBRA plans,




Page 2

Stock Options
& Restricted
Stock:

Consulting
Duties:

For so long as you are a consultant to D56 under this letter agreement, you will be able to hold and continue vesting in the stock options and restricted
shares you have been awarded.

Throughout the Consulting Period you would, on an as-needed basis (recognizing that foreign product development trips may be more than half-time),
regularly perform a broad range of advisory, technical and commercial services on behalf of D56 with regard to product development and sourcing,
including —

o Development of product to be introduced in December 2004/January 2005/May 2005 in existing or new non-collectible lines, including samples
production and delivery

e Oversight of vendor relations and collectible product in development during the Consulting Period

o Identification of potential new vendors, product features, and design or manufacturing innovations

o Weekly meeting with {redacted name} and other members of the Creative, Product Development and Sourcing teams concerning products or
designs in-process and any other business issues

¢ Regular meeting with Marketing, Creative and Product Development personnel regarding product and design direction and other business issues

o Transition and training of {redacted names} and any other existing or new personnel regarding any aspect of product development, sourcing,
vendor relations or their job responsibilities

¢ Transition and facilitation of {redacted name} consulting services in vendor price negotiations, quality issues, product specification adjustment
for feasibility concems, and coordination of sculpting approvals.

You would also perform such other services as I, {redacted name} or {redacted name} may request from time to time during the Consulting Period. In
performing your services during the Consuiting Period you will do so consistent with D56 direction and policies, including the Code of Ethics and
Business Conduct. In this connection, during and after the Consulting Period you will keep confidential and not disclose any and all non-public D56
information.

You will make yourself available for contact by D56 regularly throughout the Consulting Period. In this regard, you will keep us apprised of your home
and mobile phone numbers. You will also provide advance notice and itinerary and contact information for any travel (including holiday and product
development trips) outside the Minneapolis area. D56 will reimburse your reasonable travel expenses for any foreign product development trips of which
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Early
Termination
Of Consulting
Period:

Non-
Competition:

D56 has prior notice and during which at least half of your time is spent performing services for D56 under this letter agreement.

In the event that D56 or you (1) commit any material fraud against the other, (2) commit any unlawful act which adversely affects the other’s commercial
prospects or (3) willfully or habitually breach or neglect our respective obligations under this letter agreement, the other party hereto may terminate the
consulting engagement with 30 days’ prior notice in writing, and during such 30 day period you and D56 shall meet to attempt to resolve the matters giving
rise to the termination notice. In the event D56 has delivered valid notice, does not rescind it and an early termination thereby occurs, the fixed monthly
consulting fee shall be prorated on a daily basis for the month termination is effective, any 2004 cash bonus payments wil} be prorated on a daily basis
from the first day of the 2004 fiscal year to the effective date of the early termination, and any 2005 cash bonus payment shall be prorated from the first
day of the 2005 fiscal year in which you have been engaged by D56 under this letter agreement to the effective date of the early termination. In the event
you have delivered valid notice, do not rescind it and an early termination thereby occurs, the fixed monthly consulting fee shall be payable through the
month of March 2005 and there shall be no proration of any cash bonus payments, irrespective the early termination.

From the date hereof through one year following expiration of the Consulting Period, you agree that you will not own (other than a negligible interest),
manage, operate, join, be employed by or otherwise provide services anywhere in the world to:

¢ Any of D56’s existing Village or Snowbabies factories (including any new factories they may establish or sponsor) (example: {redacted
names});

e Any person of firm engaged in the design, development, production or distribution of miniature decorative or collectible buildings or
coordinated “village” accessories; or

. Any person or firm engaged in the design, development, production or distribution of giftware, home décor or tabletop products for the
wholesale Gift & Specialty Retail trade (examples: {redacted names}), except that you may work or deal on products for Mass Market
distribution with any such person or firm described in this third bullet point so long as such person or firm already is a product manufacturer for

the Mass Market channel.
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Assignment
of Creations;

General Legal
Release:

Nature of
Legal
Relationship:

From the date hereof through one year following expiration of the Consulting Period, you will keep us informed of other giftware, collectibles, and home
décor businesses you work with, and other products you develop, for distribution through the Gift, Specialty Retail or Department Store channels.

In addition, you will not at anytime from the date hereof through five years following expiration of the Consulting Period:

o make any statement (under circumstances reasonably likely to become public or that you might reasonably expect to become public) critical of
D56 or any of its employees, officers, directors, representatives, products, activities or practices, or in any way adversely affecting or otherwise
maligning the business or reputation of D56 or any of its employees, officers, directors or representatives; or

o directly or indirectly divert or interfere with any of the employees, customers or suppliers of D56, or solicit for employment or business with any
of D56's employees or representatives.

The foregoing supersedes all other non-compete, non-solicitation, non-disparagement, and non-interference covenants you have made in favor of D56, all
of which are of no further effect.

You assign, and agree to assign. all ownership of copyright, know-how and other intellectual property created, conceived or commissioned by you in the
course of your delivery of consulting services under this engagement, all of which shall be deemed “works for hire”.

Upon the effective date 6f your resignation as an employee, you will sign and deliver to D56 a release in the form of Exhibit A to this letter agreement.

D56 will continue its practice of having all binding purchase orders issued by OVP personnel. Accordingly, during the Consulting Period and thereafter
you will be able to discuss and reach informal understanding with vendors as to indicative terms much as you do today, but shall not be authorized to enter
into any legally binding obligations on behalf of D56 as its agent. Your relationship to D56 during the Consulting Period shall be as an independent
contractor, not as an employee, and you shall be responsible for all taxes, withholding, and the acquisition and cost of any insurances or benefits that are
afforded by D56 in light of your status as an employee prior to your resignation of employment.
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Legal Matters:

The laws of Minnesota shall govem this letter agreement, and all disputes shall be decided by binding AAA arbitration in Minneapolis after good faith
negotiation. The parties agree that specific performance and injunctive relief shall be available, in addition to all other remedies available at law or in
equity. This letter agreement may be amended or waived only in a writing signed by both parties. The provisions of this letter agreement are severable so
that invalidity of any provision shall not affect the enforceability or validity of any other provision.

You agree that the covenants contained under the section captioned “Non-Competition” are reasonable and valid in geographic, temporal and subject-
matter scope and in all other respects, and do not pose limitations greater than necessary to protect the goodwill and other business interests of D56, which
you agree could foreseeably be harmed in an irreparable manner by your breach. If any arbitrator or court determines any of such covenants, or any part
thereof, is unenforceable because of scope, such authority shall be deemed by this letter agreement to have the power to reduce the scope to the extent
legally necessary and such covenant shall then be enforceable to the maximum extent legally permitted; with respect to geographic scope in particular, if a
court or arbitrator deems such scope overbroad, the parties agree that the court or arbitrator may reduce such scope by one-mile increments to the extent
necessary to satisfy such authority that the restricted territory is fair and reasonably required for the protection of D56's interests.

Kindly sign the enclosed copy of this fetter in the space provided below to confirm this as our mutual agreement, superseding all prior understandings and agreements with
respect to any of the subject matter hereof.

Sincerely,

/s! Susan Engel

Susan Engel

Chairwoman & CEO

Confirmed and agreed:

/s/ David W. Dewey

David W. Dewey




Exhibit A to Letter Agreement between
David W, Dewey and Department 56, In¢,

EMPLOYEE RELEASE

David W. Dewey (“Employee™), in consideration for the payment of monies and benefits by Department 56, Inc. (the “Company”) pursuant to the Letter Agreement to
which this Release is annexed as Exhibit A (the “Letter Agreement”), does hereby confirm his agreement and delivery of this Release by setting forth his signature in the
space provided below.

Employee, on behalf of himself and his heirs and representatives, hereby releases Company and all of its affiliates, predecessors, subsidiaries, successors, employees,
officers, directors, agents, insurers, representatives, counsel, shareholders, and all other persons, entities, and corporations affiliated or related with any of them, from all
liability for damages, claims, and, demands, whether known or unknown, of any kind, including all claims for costs, expenses, and attorneys’ fees arising out of any events,
acts, decisions, or omissions occurring prior to execution of this Release (including, but not limited to, Employee’s resignation of employment with Company). Employee
understands that this Release is a full, final and complete settlement and release of ali his claims whatsoever.

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Employee does hereby waive, release and discharge, and agree to hold harmless Company from, any and all rights, claims
and causes of action whatsoever Employee may have, or which may arise, against Company for all claims, including equitable or at faw and including but not limited to
those based on libel, invasion of privacy, violation of any right of publicity, copyright or trademark infringement in connection with any publication or use, past, present or
future, of Employee’s name, image, signature or any photographic reproductions, modifications or alterations thereof in conjunction with Company’s promotional material
and products. Employee hereby further assigns to Company all his right, title and interest in any and all inventions, discoveries, improvements and ideas, whether or not in
writing or reduced fo practice and whether or not patentable or copyrightable, made, authored or conceived by Employee, whether by the Employee’s individual efforts or in
connection with the efforts of others, and that either (i) relate or related to the Company’s business, products or processes, past, present, anticipated or under development,
or (ii) result or resulted from the Employee’s employment by Company, or (iii) use or used Company’s equipment, supplies, facilities or trade secret information.

Employee further agrees that he will not institute any claim for damages, by charge or otherwise, nor otherwise authorize any other party, governmental or otherwise, to
institute any claim for damages via administrative or legal proceedings against Company, its affiliates, predecessors, subsidiaries, successors, employees, officers, directors,
agents, insurers, representatives, counsel, shareholders, and all other persons, entities, and corporations affiliated or related with any of them based on any events, acts,
decisions, or omissions occurring prior to execution of this Release. Employee also waives the right to money damages or other legal or equitable relief awarded by any
governmental agency related to any such claim.

ADDITIONALLY, THIS RELEASE SPECIFICALLY WAIVES ALL OF EMPLOYEE’S RIGHTS AND CLAIMS ARISING UNDER THE AGE
DISCRIMINATION IN EMPLOYMENT ACT OF 1967 (29 U.S.C. § 621 et seq.), AS AMENDED, AND THE OLDER WORKERS'’ BENEFIT PROTECTION
ACT, AS AMENDED. In connection with this waiver, Employee acknowledges and agrees to the following:




a. Employee is not waiving any rights or claims under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended, that may arise after this Release is
executed.

b. Employee can waive rights or claims under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act only in exchange for consideration that this is in addition to anything of
value to which Employee is already entitled.

c. Employee has carefully read and fully understands al! of the provisions and effects of this Release and Employee knowingly and voluntarily entered into all of the
terms set forth herein.

Employee’s signature below evidences Employee’s understanding and voluntary waiver of all claims against the Company, inctuding but not limited to those pursuant to the
Age Discrimination in Employment Act and the Older Workers® Benefit Protection Act.

Notwithstanding anything in this Release to the contrary, Employee does not release the Company of any of its obligations or any of Employee’s claims or
demands (1) under the Letter Agreement or (2) under any employee pension benefit plan or employee welfare benefit plan under ERISA (“Employees Retirement
Income Security Act”, 29U.S.C. Sec 1001 et seq.), which rights shall be governed by the terms of any such plans maintained by the Company.

s/ Date: April 3, 2004
David W. Dewey




Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Name of Subsldiary Jurisdiction
Department 56 Retail, Inc. Minnesota
Department 56 Sales, Inc. Minnesota
D 56, Inc. Minnesota
CAN 56, Inc. Minnesota
Axis Holdings Corporation Delaware

Time To Celebrate, Inc. Minnesota




Exhibit 23.1

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' CONSENT

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 33-95704, No. 33-79960, and No. 333-41639 of Department 56, Inc. and subsidiaries on Form
S-8 of our report dated March 1, 2004, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Department 56, Inc. and subsidiaries for the year ended January 3, 2004

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Minneapolis, Minnesota
March 17, 2004



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Susan E. Engel, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Department 56, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have: :

(a)  Designed such disclosure-controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this réport is being prepared;

(b)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(¢) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intemal controf over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)  Allsignificant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s intemnal contro} over
financial reporting.

Date: March 17, 2004

/s/ Susan E. Engel

Susan E. Engel

Chairwoman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TQ SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Timothy J. Schugel, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Department 56, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this réport is being prepared;

(b)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(¢)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of intenal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 17, 2004

/s/ Timothy J. Schugel

Timothy J. Schugel
Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President
(Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002, 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Annual Report of Department 56, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended January 3, 2004 as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Susan E. Engel, the Chairwoman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 17, 2004

/s! Susan E. Engel

Susan E. Engel
Chairwoman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002, 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Annual Report of Department 56, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended January 3, 2004 as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), I, Timothy J. Schugel, the Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 17, 2004
/s/ Timothy J. Schugel

Timothy J. Schugel
Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President




